Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers



atsa.com

ATSA

Practice Guidelines

for Assessment, Treatment, and Intervention with Adolescents
Who Have Engaged in Sexually Abusive Behavior
2017

Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers 4900 SW Griffith Drive, Suite 274 Beaverton, Oregon 97005-4732

Voice: 503-643-1023

Fax: 503-643-5084 Email: atsa@atsa.com Web: www.atsa.com

Twitter: @makesocietysafe

Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers

PRACTICE GUIDELINES FOR ASSESSMENT, TREATMENT, AND INTERVENTION WITH ADOLESCENTS WHO HAVE ENGAGED IN SEXUALLY ABUSIVE BEHAVIOR

2017

(Short Title: ATSA Adolescent Practice Guidelines)

@2017 Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers
Printed and produced in the USA.
Please do not cite or quote without permission.

INTRODUCTION

Dear Colleagues,

The ATSA Adolescent Guidelines Committee is pleased to present the ATSA Practice Guidelines for Assessment, Treatment, and Intervention of Adolescents Who Have Engaged in Sexually Abusive Behavior (2017).

It was an honor to be tasked with developing ATSA's first guidelines specific to adolescents. It was a long, laborious process and we appreciate everyone's patience in waiting for the final product. We hope that you will be as excited about the final guidelines as the committee is.

While these guidelines were developed by ATSA, the intent is to support and guide the work of both ATSA members and non-members. You will notice that we use "practitioner" rather than "member" in the body of the guidelines. This was a deliberate decision by the committee to reflect that the guidelines were developed to provide support to all professionals involved with this group of youth.

We thank the membership for their support throughout this process including taking the time to provide comments and feedback on the official draft during the membership review. We also thank the ATSA Executive Board of Directors for their careful review, response, and approval of the final document.

In addition we are grateful for the assistance and guidance of Maia Christopher, ATSA Executive Director, who never wavered in her support and belief in the project. And, we thank ATSA staff members Aniss Benelmouffok, Sarah Gorter, Kelly McGrath, and Ann Snyder, and the many behind-the-scenes people who were tasked with reviewing, formatting, and preparing the document for publication.

This document is for you, and it is our hope that you find the ATSA Adolescent Practice Guidelines beneficial.

Sincerely,

The ATSA Adolescent Practice Guidelines Committee:

Jacqueline Page, Pay, D Thomas Florence, Lesse

Jacqueline Page, Psy.D., Co-Chair Tom Leversee, LCSW, Co-Chair

Mehristopla Maia Christopher,

Executive Director and Ex-Officio Committee Member

Kevin Creeden M.A.

Elizabeth J. Letourneau, Ph.D.

Sue Righthand, Ph.D.

Daniel Rothman, Ph.D.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Α.	GENERAL EXPECTATIONS1
В.	INTENDED SCOPE, APPLICABILITY, AND USE2
C.	SEXUAL ABUSE AS A PUBLIC HEALTH ISSUE5
	Prevalence and Recidivism Rates
	Assessment and Intervention6
	Public Policy10
D.	FOUNDATIONAL POINTS OF THE ATSA ADOLESCENT
	PRACTICE GUIDELINES 12
	Empirical Framework12
	Foundational Points13
E.	ASSESSMENTS OF ADOLESCENTS WHO HAVE
	SEXUALLY ABUSED16
	Overarching Assessment Guidelines16
	Conducting Assessments
	Purpose of Assessment20
	Forensic-Related Assessments21
	Use of Risk - Need - Responsivity in Adolescent Assessments 23
	Risk - Need Factors24
	General Reoffending Risk Factors
	Responsivity Factors
	Assessment Domains
	Assessment Methods31
	Assessment Measures33
	General Guidelines33
	Psychophysiological Measures34
	Risk and Needs Assessment Measures35
	Assessment Conclusions36
	Assessment Recommendations38

F.	TREATMENT INTERVENTIONS	 4 0
	Overview	40
	Treatment Provider Qualifications	
	Treatment of the Whole Youth	···· 43
	Treatment within the Broader Social-Ecological Approach	
	Treatment Engagement and Motivation	
	Therapeutic Relationship	
	General Considerations During Treatment	-
	Assessment-Informed Treatment	•
	Treatment Programming	
	Treatment Targets	_
	Social Isolation/Low Social Competence	
	Attitudes Supportive of Abusive Behavior	
	Parent-Adolescent Relationships	
	General Self-Regulation	
	Healthy Sexuality Including Sexual Self-Regulation	
	Social and Community Supports	-
	Nonsexual Delinquency	
	Treatment Modalities	
	Treatment Process or Discharge	
		···)/
G.	SPECIAL POPULATIONS	61
	Overview	
	Assessment	
	Treatment	
Н.	SUPPORTING REHABILITATION	65
	Overview	

I.	APPENDIX: SPECIAL POPULATIONS	67
	Adolescent Females	67
	Adolescents with Intellectual Disabilities	70
	Adolescents with Co-Occurring Mental Health Problems	····· 73
J.	APPENDIX: PUBLIC POLICY	76
	History of Public Policy Development	-
	Supporting Effective Policies	·····77
	Supporting Research-Based Policies	
	Beyond Juvenile Justice: Decisions Related to	•
	Supervision, Placement, Education, and Disclosure	81
	Decisions Related to Disclosure of Youths' Status	
	Policy Conclusions	

A. GENERAL EXPECTATIONS

The Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers (ATSA) is an international, multi-disciplinary organization dedicated to preventing sexual abuse. Through research, education, and shared learning, ATSA promotes evidence-based practice, sound public policy, and collaborative community strategies that support effective assessment, treatment, and management of individuals who have sexually abused or are at risk to abuse.

The goals and objectives of ATSA include, but are not limited to:

- Disseminating extant and emerging research about effective clinical and other treatments of individuals who engage in sexually abusive behavior;
- Promoting empirically informed assessment, clinical treatment, and other interventions for individuals who have sexually abused or are at risk to sexually abuse;
- Reducing the risk of individuals to engage in sexually abusive or other harmful behaviors and increasing their ability to live healthy, productive lives with the ultimate goal of making communities safer;
- Preventing sexual abuse through a collaborative, multi-disciplinary,
 public health approach which guides policy and clinical practice; and
- Maintaining high standards of integrity and professionalism within the ATSA membership.

In support of these goals, the Practice Guidelines for the Assessment, Treatment, and Intervention with Adolescents Who Have Engaged in Sexually Abusive Behavior 2017 (ATSA Adolescent Practice Guidelines) provide guidance to practitioners and others who work with adolescents who have sexually abused or are at risk to abuse. ATSA members agree to abide by these guidelines and integrate them into all practice and programmatic decision making.

B. INTENDED SCOPE, APPLICABILITY, AND USE

The ATSA Adolescent Practice Guidelines apply to practitioners who manage and treat adolescents (youth ages 13 through 17) who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior or may be at risk to engage in sexually abusive behavior. This includes adolescents involved in the child welfare and/or juvenile justice systems.

These guidelines define "practitioners" as individuals who may work in a range of disciplines and professions including, but not limited to, treatment providers, case managers, juvenile court personnel, law enforcement officers, probation officers, investigative personnel, evaluators, policy and law makers, and other professionals involved in working with adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior. Although these guidelines focus on adolescents ages 13 through 17, youth vary in their cognitive and psychological development. Therefore, ATSA considers this age range to be advisory and recognizes there are times when these guidelines may be reasonably applicable and helpful in working with youth outside of the specified age range.

The positions articulated in these guidelines are intended to serve as recommended, current best practices for practitioners providing services to adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior. These guidelines are not intended to replace any local, state, provincial, or federal statutes, provisions, mandates, promulgated ethical codes, or practice requirements/parameters established for regulated professions. Practitioners are encouraged to take steps to achieve an appropriate resolution in cases where a conflict between these guidelines and legal and professional obligations occur.

ATSA further recommends that practitioners actively educate others including those involved in treatment, mental health, child welfare, juvenile justice, government, and policy making about these guidelines. Doing so will help promote current evidence-based and ethically sound practices; offer a measure of protection for adolescents, practitioners, and the public against unethical, non-informed, or unprofessional practices with this population; and serve as a catalyst for additional empirical research to further inform practices and policies regarding adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior.

For information on children with sexual behavior problems who are 12 years and younger, please refer to the Report of the ATSA Task Force on Children with Sexual Behavior Problems (2006). For information on adult males who have sexually offended, refer to ATSA Practice Guidelines for Assessment, Treatment, and Management of Male Adult Sexual Abusers (2014). In addition, for information specific to individuals with intellectual disabilities and problematic sexual behavior, please refer to Assessment, Treatment, and Supervision of Individuals with Intellectual Disabilities and Problematic Sexual Behaviors (2014), or the Assessment and Treatment of Adolescents with Intellectual Disabilities Who Exhibit Sexual Problems or Offending Behaviors (2015). These and other resources are available on the ATSA website at www.atsa.com.

The descriptor "adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior" has been purposefully adopted by ATSA to describe the population covered by these guidelines.

Although terms such as "juvenile sex offender" and "adolescent sex offender" are commonly used, these kinds of descriptors, which characterize a young person based on his/her behavior, imply that the behavior is long lasting, intractable, or permanent. These notions are contraindicated by current research, which finds that problematic sexual behaviors in the vast majority of youth are transitory. In addition, the term "sex offender" fails to make a distinction among the continuum of behaviors broadly described in legal and popular contexts, which can range from voyeurism to violent sexual assault.

Although the term "juvenile sex offender" implies a legal status in some juvenile justice systems, these kinds of labels have the potential to negatively shape a young person's identity and self-concept during an important developmental period through which he/she might otherwise successfully navigate. Such labels are misleading, unhelpful, and at times harmful to the youth, his/her family, and/or the treatment process. ATSA selected the term "abusive" to refer to sexual conduct that is interpersonally harmful to distinguish it from other sexual behaviors that may be potentially problematic but do not harm another person. Finally, the term "adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior" describes rather than labels, and denotes that this is a past behavior rather than a current or future one, which helps the adolescent, practitioner, and public expect correction of the youth's harmful behavior.

The ATSA Adolescent Practice Guidelines are grounded in scientific evidence, sound general practice principles, and accepted ethical standards in an array of relevant areas including, but not limited to, child and adolescent development, neuroscience, sociology, criminology, and clinical and forensic psychology. As research and scientific knowledge evolve over time, it is important that practitioners stay current on relevant studies in the variety of fields that cover these youth and influence their treatment. To assist with this, ATSA will periodically review and revise these guidelines as appropriate.

C. SEXUAL ABUSE AS A PUBLIC HEALTH ISSUE

Prevalence and Recidivism Rates

Sexually abusive behavior by adolescent youth is a serious public health, public safety, and public policy problem. The most recent available estimates of abusive sexual behavior find that adolescents commit more than one-third of all sexual offenses against minors. However, the percent of adolescents committing these offenses is low – approximately 4 to 5 percent of teenaged males and slightly more than 1 percent of teenaged females have perpetrated acts of sexual abuse.

Current data also show that the base rate for sexual recidivism is low – between 3 and 10 percent, with a global average of approximately 5 percent. Studies from the past 15 years have found the reported mean sexual recidivism rate to be approximately 2.75 percent. Research shows that sexually abusive behavior in adolescents rarely persists into adulthood. The vast majority of most adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior do not continue to sexually abuse and are not on a life trajectory for repeat offending.

Youth who do reoffend are far more likely to do so with nonsexual offenses than with sexual ones. There have been some studies that report higher rates of sexual reoffending and there is a small subset of adolescents with considerable and/or persistent risk for perpetrating sexual harm who require special consideration. However, these youth are the exception rather than the norm. Sexual abuse can cause grave harm, may have long-lasting impacts on the people victimized and their families and communities, and may require legal interventions and specialized treatment. Effective clinical practice and public policy, informed by sound research and an understanding of these youth, are essential to successfully address and prevent sexual abuse. And, as with any public health issue, resolution requires a collaborative approach among many individuals including practitioners, legal professionals, juvenile justice professionals, the public, its representatives, and others. As an organization dedicated to preventing sexual abuse, ATSA supports a shared effort to increase community safety, reduce recidivism and prevent future victimization, and effectively rehabilitate these youth.

Assessment and Intervention

From a neurodevelopmental perspective, adolescence is a very dynamic and fluid stage of development that extends well past the conventional or legal age of adulthood, often into the early to mid-20s. In many ways the brain of a typical mid- to late-adolescent (especially the parts of the brain most responsible for stimulation-seeking, judgment, and decision-making abilities) more closely resembles the brain of a younger teenager than that of a mature adult. Some characteristics associated with adolescent behavior, therefore - such as poor impulse control, susceptibility to peer influence, emotionality, recklessness, lack of responsibility, and a limited ability to anticipate and appreciate future consequences – have been linked to identifiable structural and functional features of adolescent brains. Consequently, compared to adults, adolescents are more highly influenced by peers and social rewards, less future-oriented, less opposed to risk, and less able to manage their impulses, emotions, and behavior. Factors that strongly impact the adolescent brain and can exacerbate or prolong the behavior issues associated with adolescence include, but are not limited to, childhood neglect, trauma, and abuse; cognitive factors including intelligence, executive functioning, and learning style; and developmental problems such as autism spectrum disorders.

The differences between adults and adolescents, and the rapid changes that take place during adolescence, are key to a range of adolescent behavior problems – including sexually inappropriate or sexually abusive behaviors – and to the types of interventions that work most effectively with youth. Because adolescents are known to depend on and be strongly influenced by a number of social, environmental, and ecological factors and systems such as family, peers, and school, it follows that effective interventions need to focus on and involve the key adults and systems in the young person's life. This may include involving caregivers, family, and personnel within the child welfare, educational, recreational, mental health, and juvenile or criminal justice systems, rather than solely focusing on factors that lie within the individual adolescent.

Effective treatment also entails holding adolescents responsible for their behavior at an appropriate developmental level. A youth's maturity and capacity for taking responsibility for his/her actions is greatly affected by his/her social environment and stage of cognitive development, as well as any insult or injury such as neglect and trauma that might impact that cognitive development. Helping a youth mature and learn to be accountable for his/her actions requires involvement by the youth's caregivers and other significant adults in the adolescent's life, upon whom the youth relies for influence in developing the capacity to grow and change.

Properly targeted and implemented interventions significantly reduce risk and recidivism. These interventions often can be delivered in the community as opposed to residential facilities or correctional programs, although at times the youth's risk and needs may necessitate residential or correctional placement for their well-being and community safety. Interventions often address social/environmental risk factors (e.g., reducing parent-teen conflict, enhancing parental monitoring, enhancing the youth's peer relationship skills, and supporting his/her involvement and success in academics and prosocial recreation). While this may be more challenging for youth in out-of-home placements, it remains a relevant focus of treatment.

The fact that these treatment methods are highly similar to effective interventions for youth with general (nonsexual) conduct problems challenges the notion that most youth who engage in abusive sexual behavior require residential treatment or specialized sex-offense-specific treatment focusing predominantly or only on the sexually abusive behavior. The most effective interventions for sexually abusive behavior in adolescents are those that address the underlying risk factors relevant to both sexual recidivism and nonsexual conduct problems. As noted, there are cases in which residential or secure out-of-community placements and/ or a concentrated focus on specialized treatment methods may be necessary to address particularly salient risk factors such as persistent sexually abusive behavior or sexual interests involving force, coercion, or children; significant behavioral health issues; chronic mental health issues; and when the youth's resulting risk/needs necessitate more intensive management. However, most youth can safely remain in the community during treatment.

Many adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior do not require extensive or intensive interventions to reduce their risk for reoffending. In fact, for some youth who are generally rule-compliant and prosocial, there are natural, logical, and easily implemented processes that will address the adolescent's risk and needs. These may include such things as natural consequences (e.g., being in trouble with the family, involvement with child welfare and/or law enforcement), maturation, healthy relationship development, healthy sexuality education (including understanding abuse and consent), and parental involvement and monitoring. In these cases, the potential for harm caused by high-intensity interventions, which may involve such things as exposure to an antisocial peer group or isolation from one's family and supports, could be detrimental and inadvertently impair an adolescent's psychosocial functioning and increase the risk for future abusive sexual conduct or other delinquent behaviors. Careful, individualized assessments will determine risk factors, protective factors, and developmental needs, and provide appropriately matched intervention plans.

There are some notable differences between adolescents who commit sexual offenses and those who commit nonsexual crimes that may require specific types of interventions. For example:

- Adolescents who have committed sexual offenses appear more likely to have been sexually victimized and/or exposed to sexual content or pornography at an earlier age than adolescents with nonsexual offenses.
- Youth who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior may be more likely than youth who have committed nonsexual offenses to report higher levels of social isolation, anxiety, and low self-esteem.
- Adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior may be less likely to have significant criminal histories, associate with antisocial peers, or have substance abuse problems than youth who have committed nonsexual crimes.
- Youth who have offended sexually may be more likely to have sexual interests oriented toward younger children and/or violence than youth who have offended nonsexually.

These findings may help practitioners narrow the focus of intervention efforts, where appropriate, and base interventions on the individual youth's risk, needs, and strengths. Recent research consistently indicates that adolescents who engage in sexually abusive behavior are diverse. These youth differ from one another in numerous ways, including the motivation for their behavior, age and maturity level, family background, learning styles and challenges, and risk factors for reoffending. Further complicating matters is that the factors which led to the development of a behavior in the first place may not be the same factors that maintain that behavior over time.

In summary, adolescent sexually abusive behavior is influenced by a variety of risk and protective factors occurring at the individual youth, family, peer, school, neighborhood, and community levels. Practitioners' assessment, intervention, and management efforts must recognize the array of influencing factors. There is certainly no one-size-fits-all explanation for abusive sexual behaviors, no more than there is a single method for addressing them.

Public Policy

Public health and public safety are both jeopardized by ineffective or misguided public policy and criminal justice efforts. This is especially true for adolescents in jurisdictions where policies designed for adults have been applied to juveniles. For many decades in North America, interventions and treatment approaches were typically simply borrowed from the adult field due to the lack of literature or research about adolescents and brain development. The assumption was that all adolescents who engaged in sexually abusive behaviors were mini-adults. Adolescents were viewed as being high risk and requiring intensive, long-term, specialized treatment.

During the past decade, however, research has challenged those beliefs and provided a new perspective. As a result, practice has shifted to reflect an empirically grounded, caregiver-involved, developmentally appropriate approach for addressing abusive sexual behavior by adolescents. However, public policy has not yet caught up with this knowledge. For example, in the United States, research findings have repeatedly demonstrated that sex offender management policies such as registration and public notification – especially when applied to youth – are ineffective at reducing already low sexual recidivism rates.

Moreover, such policies have collateral effects that frequently produce more harm than good. For example, such laws may have harmful effects on prosocial development by disrupting positive peer relationships and activities; interfering with school and work opportunities; and resulting in harassment, rejection, social alienation, and lifelong stigmatization and instability. Such practices are inconsistent with community safety and promotion of prosocial development and, in fact, may actually elevate a youth's risk by increasing known risk factors for sexual and non-sexual offending. Policies that obstruct healthy adolescent development generally are poor practice and financially costly.

In contrast, research findings indicate that rehabilitative efforts with most youth are effective and that therapeutic interventions, rather than social control strategies, are not only more promising and more successful, but also more cost-effective. And in general, what is good for public health and public safety often is the very same set of conditions that promote healthy adolescent development. Effective public policy and practice for adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior involves a strong rehabilitative focus. At times, criminal justice sanctions may be warranted, but they are not effective when applied in isolation without consideration of those interventions needed to facilitate broader prosocial development and reformation. Support of a rehabilitative approach is consistent with the more general juvenile justice philosophies in most countries and recognizes adolescence as a time of hope and opportunity for positive outcomes.

D. FOUNDATIONAL POINTS OF THE ATSA ADOLESCENT PRACTICE GUIDELINES

Empirical Framework

The ATSA Adolescent Practice Guidelines use an evidence-based framework that supports effective treatment and management of adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior. The Risk-Need-Responsivity Principles (RNR) provide the empirical framework for these guidelines.

Risk: The Risk principle focuses on factors within the adolescent and his/her environment associated with sexual and/or general reoffending. Consistent with this principle, the number and constellation of a youth's risk factors, as established and identified through appropriate assessment, determine a youth's need for structure and supervision as well as the intensity of treatment services. Adolescents with the highest risk are provided the most intensive services in more restrictive settings.

Need: The Need principle focuses on dynamic risk factors that, if modified, would reduce the adolescent's risk for sexual or general reoffending. This principle ensures the target and focus of interventions are directly related to the dynamic risk factors for reoffending that have been assessed as present for the individual youth. Other factors that are present, but not necessarily empirically related to recidivism, also may be addressed to support the well-being of the youth.

Responsivity: The Responsivity principle incorporates effective methods to maximize the adolescent's and his/her family's ability to benefit and learn from rehabilitative interventions. This principle states that interventions are to be delivered in ways that are sensitive and responsive to the youth's learning style, cognitive or developmental strengths and challenges, mental health status, psychological characteristics, and motivation to change, as well as his/her relevant cultural, gender, and other individual and family factors that affect the youth's and his/her family's ability to positively engage in and respond to interventions. This principle also notes the need to adapt and adjust the treatment and interventions as the adolescent matures and changes, or as more information is acquired that would suggest appropriate modifications.

Foundational Points

- 1.0 Adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior are fundamentally different from adults who have sexually offended, and require a different set of guidelines with respect to assessment, intervention, and public policy approaches. Sanctions and treatment approaches developed for adults should not be applied to adolescents except in rare cases (e.g., when developmentally appropriate and research supports their use).
- 1.1 Adolescents who have engaged in abusive sexual behavior are a diverse group of individuals. As such, each individual has differing strengths, risks, needs, and responsivity factors, as well as protective factors.
- 1.2 Decisions about extensiveness and intensity of interventions are informed by an applicable assessment. Adolescents who engage in these abusive behaviors are very unlikely to continue them into adulthood. Not all adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior require extensive or intensive interventions to reduce their risk for reoffending.

- Interventions for adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior and who have other indicators of risk associated with delinquency should include interventions for general delinquent conduct. Those youth who do reoffend are much more likely to commit a nonsexual offense than a sexual one.
- 1.4 Assessments of adolescents who engage in sexually abusive behavior are multidimensional, combining multiple sources of information including interviews and observations, record reviews, self-reports, and parent-reports using the best evidence-based strategies, evaluations, and risk assessment instruments available.
- 1.5 Practitioners understand that sex-offending-specific risk assessment measures have limitations; that findings need to be used appropriately (i.e., within the scope of their empirically established limits); and that the risk assessments need to be conducted at repeated intervals taking into account the adolescent's progress and changing social, family, developmental, and environmental contexts.
- 1.6 Effective interventions are evidence-based, holistic, and individualized according to each youth's risk, needs, developmental level, family support, and protective and responsivity factors.
- 1.7 Treatments that incorporate a caregiver/family-involved model that promotes community safety, and healthy and prosocial adolescent development, are effective in reducing recidivism, especially for higher-risk youth.
- Intervention duration should be guided by the risk-relevant needs of the youth and his/her family. Decisions about management and supervision are informed by the youth's protective factors, risk factors, and community safety.

- 1.9 Most adolescents who have engaged in abusive sexual behavior can be maintained safely in the community. Out-of-home, residential, or correctional placements, although at times necessary, are made based on the individual youth's risks and needs.
- 1.10 To minimize negative effects associated with out-of-home and residential settings such as possible negative peer association and influences and to maximize opportunities for prosocial activities and positive family or other supports, individualized interventions should be offered in the least restrictive settings possible based on the youth's risk, needs, and community safety.
- 1.11 Effective policies and criminal or juvenile justice initiatives need to be guided by current, empirical evidence that involves a strong rehabilitative focus and fosters healthy adolescent development while facilitating community safety.
- 1.12 Therapeutic interventions for adolescents, rather than social control strategies, generally are more successful and more cost-effective.

E. ASSESSMENTS OF ADOLESCENTS WHO HAVE SEXUALLY ABUSED

Overarching Assessment Guidelines

Sound assessments guide effective interventions and inform an array of decisions about an adolescent's care and treatment. Examples include:

- child welfare involvement and interventions;
- juvenile justice and other legal decisions (e.g., diversion from the juvenile justice system, disposition, registration, and notification);
- transitions from out-of-community placements (e.g., residential and correctional programs);
- family reunification and reintegration; and
- community supervision and case planning.

Quality assessments identify and provide information about an individual adolescent's risk, needs, and responsivity factors. Given that the research clearly notes adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior are more likely to recidivate nonsexually than sexually, areas related to general delinquency risk and needs warrant consideration in the assessment. Assessments determine risk-relevant intervention strategies and provide information about factors impacting responses to treatment. Assessments also inform decisions about youth who may need a more restrictive environment or more intensive services as well as youth who may need little or no further intervention and for whom common sex-offense-specific interventions, high levels of restrictions, or punitive sanctions may unintentionally do harm.

Assessments of adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior encompass multiple domains and are most reliable when practitioners incorporate a range of sources of information in addition to the adolescent and caregiver. Other sources of information may include educational and treatment records as well as information from other professionals involved in the case such as probation officers, case managers, legal representatives, law enforcement officers, courts, and state agencies. It also is important to note that risk, needs, and circumstances change over time, and that the impact of adolescent development may therefore require ongoing periodic assessments of the adolescent to ensure changes, progress, and other developmental factors are taken into consideration.

Conducting Assessments

- 2.0 Practitioners conduct developmentally sensitive, ethical, and responsible assessments that support well-informed decision making and maintain the profession's credibility and integrity.
- 2.1 Practitioners conduct assessments in accordance with established ethical guidelines and standards as well as appropriate jurisdictional laws and policies. Practices should be consistent with practitioners' professional ethical codes and applicable forensic assessment guidelines, working within the boundaries of their disciplines/license and the ATSA Code of Ethics 2017. If laws are inconsistent with ATSA's ethical standards, practitioners will work to resolve the disparity, decline to conduct the assessment, or comply with the law.
- 2.2 Practitioners conduct assessments in accordance with professional guidelines and standards developed for adolescents in general as well as adolescents who have sexually abused.

- 2.3 Practitioners are knowledgeable about normative adolescent development and recognize that maturational processes vary between, as well as within, individual youth. Thus, practitioners conduct developmentally sensitive assessments recognizing that adolescence is a time of rapid change and growth.
- 2.4 Practitioners are knowledgeable about the range of sexual behavior in adolescents, remain current with research, and review current normative information so they can competently assess the serious nature of an adolescent's behavior.
- 2.5 Practitioners possess the required training, knowledge, and expertise necessary to conduct assessments of adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior. Practitioners understand that this field is dynamic and remain current with changes and advancements in their profession through collaboration and training.
- 2.6 Practitioners understand that evaluator skill deficits or limitations may negatively impact the assessment process and findings. Practitioners conduct objective and impartial assessments, and refer or recommend the adolescent be referred to another evaluator or agency if they believe the assessment process and findings could be compromised in any way.
- 2.7 Practitioners disclose to supervisors and/or referral sources any skill deficits or limitations they may have that would interfere with their ability to adequately assess the adolescent. If the assessment process and findings might be compromised, practitioners make appropriate accommodations, refer the adolescent to another evaluator/agency, or conduct the assessment with adequate consultation from a qualified professional. The ultimate objective is that the practitioner provides a reliable and beneficial assessment.

- 2.8 Practitioners are responsible for ensuring that an evaluation related to an adolescent's sexually abusive behavior is conducted only for appropriate cases when there is definitive information that the adolescent engaged in sexually abusive behavior. This includes, but is not limited to, the following:
 - The agency responsible for investigating allegations of sexually abusive behavior and determining whether the behavior occurred has substantiated that the behavior occurred.
 - The behavior has been substantiated by the appropriate jurisdictional investigative agency.
 - The adolescent has been adjudicated in court on a sex-abuse-related offense.
 - The sexually abusive behavior was directly observed by a reliable, responsible source.
 - The youth admits to having engaged in sexually abusive behavior.
- 2.9 Practitioners consider community safety and the prevention of additional sexual abuse as core principles of the assessment process.
- 2.10 Practitioners take into account the adolescent's current legal status and the ways in which that status may influence the nature, scope, or validity of the assessment. Practitioners recognize that assessments cannot prove or disprove that sexual abuse has occurred, that this is not the role of an assessment, and that an assessment cannot predict with certainty whether such behavior will or will not recur. Practitioners should educate referral sources accordingly.
- 2.11 Practitioners recognize that adolescents who sexually abuse are a heterogeneous mix and there is no profile for adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior. Thus, statements that an adolescent fits or does not fit a profile are inappropriate.

- 2.12 Practitioners recognize that most research studies have not focused on subpopulations of adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior such as adolescent females, adolescents with cognitive or developmental challenges, and adolescents from varied cultural backgrounds. Due to these limitations in the research, including research specific to risk assessment tools, practitioners ensure they review the relevant research available to inform the assessment content and process for these subgroups of youth.
- 2.13 Practitioners recognize that adolescent development and circumstances are in flux, and conduct reassessments at regular intervals

 at least semi-annually to monitor progress, guide treatment planning, and inform administrative or legal decisions.
- 2.14 Throughout the assessment process, practitioners educate referral sources and potential consumers of the assessment about the appropriate purposes, potential misuses, benefits, and limitations involved when assessing adolescents who have sexually abused.

Purpose of Assessment

- 3.0 Practitioners clarify and document the purpose of an assessment and ensure that empirically based assessment strategies can answer the referral questions. Practitioners then conduct assessments that are responsive to those concerns and the needs of the adolescent, family, caregiver, and safety of the community.
- 3.1 Practitioners take reasonable steps to afford the adolescent and his/her legal guardian the opportunity to make an informed decision about participating in the assessment process and to decline participation if they so choose. These steps include, but are not limited to:
 - explaining the nature and purpose of the assessment;
 - outlining potential benefits, risks, and limitations of the assessment procedures that will be used;

- explaining the potential implications of participating or declining to participate in the assessment; and
- explaining the limits of confidentiality, such as persons or entities to whom the findings will be provided and under what circumstances information will be released to law enforcement if additional individuals are identified as victims of abuse.
- 3.2 Practitioners will review the referral question(s), develop an appropriate assessment protocol, and recognize that assessments have potentially substantial or severe life-altering consequences (e.g., residential placement, incarceration, registration and notification, and civil commitment).

Forensic-Related Assessments

Not all adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior are involved in the legal system. However, some do have legal charges related to the abusive behavior and are involved in associated legal proceedings. Assessments of these adolescents require additional considerations because the assessments are part of a legal proceeding and/or the legal process. The ATSA Adolescent Practice Guidelines are not intended to supercede forensic guidelines for evaluation of youth, but do highlight considerations that support best practices in evaluating adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior who are involved in the legal/court process.

- 4.0 Practitioners recognize that additional considerations are present when an evaluation is for forensic-related purposes.
- 4.1 Practitioners familiarize themselves with forensic assessment practice considerations for adolescents, including forensic guidelines and ethics. For example:
 - Adolescents have protection and rights in court proceedings and are entitled to legal counsel.

- The preferred practice for risk and needs assessments is for the specialized assessment to be conducted post-adjudication, although there are situations that warrant consideration of a pre-adjudication assessment. Some reasons for consideration of pre-adjudication assessments include:
 - the legal professionals involved in the case are seeking information to inform moving forward with a plea agreement or shaping a plea agreement;
 - the judge is seeking additional information prior to agreeing to a proposed plea bargain; or
 - the court is withholding or delaying action on the charge while providing the adolescent an opportunity for treatment and possible dismissal of the charge.
- 4.2 Practitioners are sensitive to the ethical, legal, and practice considerations when considering undertaking a pre-adjudication assessment. For example, practitioners should:
 - ensure there is definitive information that the adolescent engaged in the sexually abusive behavior, which encompasses:
 - the adolescent's admission to the behavior:
 - the agency, often a child protective agency, officially
 mandated to be responsible for investigating allegations
 of sexually abusive behavior and determining whether the
 behavior occurred, has substantiated that the behavior
 occurred by the youth (note that behavior substantiated by
 the investigative agency is different than probable cause
 legal findings); and/or
 - the behavior was observed by a reliable, responsible witness;
 - address concerns about self-incrimination;
 - consider the potential for the assessment to directly or indirectly impact the adjudication decision;
 - consider the possible impact on the adolescent's civil rights;
 and

- address questions of reliability and validity of pre-adjudication assessments due to the impact of the adolescent and his/her caregivers' concerns about the potential negative impact of the evaluation, which in turn can influence their level of cooperation or the amount of information they are comfortable sharing.
- 4.3 Practitioners conducting assessments post-adjudication but pre-disposition need to be sensitive to the adolescent's and caregivers' concerns about the potential for the assessment to inform decisions about removal from the community or other actions, and recognize that these concerns may impact how forthcoming adolescents and caregivers are during the assessment.
- 4.4 Before conducting the assessment, practitioners ensure that the adolescent and his/her caregiver/guardian/custodian have been made fully aware of, and understand, the potential legal consequences (positive and negative), risks associated with the evaluation, and how the assessment can be used by the court.

Use of Risk - Need - Responsivity in Adolescent Assessments

As discussed earlier, the Risk-Need-Responsivity (RNR) model provides a framework for assessments that inform effective treatment and interventions. Although research related to risk factors regarding nonsexual delinquency recidivism is well developed, studies pertaining to risk factors associated with sexual recidivism among adolescents are limited in number, face methodological challenges, and often have inconsistent results. Thus, there are no consistently reliable predictors of sexual recidivism risk specifically among youth. Despite these limitations, however, RNR assessments provide information that facilitates risk reduction and prosocial development.

Given that adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior are more likely to reoffend nonsexually than sexually, it is important that assessments address general risk. Assessments should focus on providing a broad, multidimensional assessment of the individual adolescent's treatment and support needs. This includes addressing issues that may be relevant to a youth's risk for sexually abusive behavior, factors related to general risk, and identifying factors that can impact the adolescent's response to interventions. To be effective, assessments also must focus on issues that impact healthy adolescent development and identify strengths and protective factors.

The following guidelines are provided to promote good quality RNR assessments that help inform decisions and interventions to prevent further offending, reduce future victimization, and promote community safety.

Risk - Need Factors

- 5.0 Practitioners review the frequency and pervasiveness of risk-related and protective factors, identify dynamic risk factors as treatment targets, and provide risk- and needs-relevant recommendations for effective interventions, treatment intensity, and supervision to reduce the adolescent's risk for reoffending both sexually and nonsexually.
- 5.1 Practitioners identify individual, family, and other socio-ecological risk-related factors and protective factors to explore how they may interact to increase or decrease the likelihood of further sexually abusive behavior and/or nonsexual offending.
- 5.2 Practitioners identify factors potentially impacting engagement and responsiveness to interventions and provide associated recommendations as appropriate. These include, but are not limited to, co-occurring disorders, cultural considerations, learning style, learning problems, intellectual deficits, anxiety, and other factors.

- 5.3 Practitioners understand that although a greater number of risk factors may suggest increased risk, they need to take into consideration all the information, recognize that many risk factors are dynamic and changeable, identify protective factors that may be present to help reduce risk, and determine if there are any immediate interventions that will help reduce risk.
- 5.4 Practitioners are aware that research regarding risk and protective factors for sexual reoffending among adolescents is always evolving. As such, practitioners monitor current findings and use relevant multi-disciplinary research findings to inform risk and need assessments. Practitioners also understand that useful information can be found in a variety of journals and other disciplines not specific to sex offenders, and maintain familiarity with advances in developmental, forensic, delinquency, clinical, academic instruction, and other fields of research.

General Reoffending Risk Factors

Static Factors/Historical Factors - Cannot Change

Static and historical factors cannot change. These include:

- prior legally charged offenses;
- unsuccessful prior interventions; and
- out-of-home placement/multiple changes in caregivers.

Dynamic Factors - Can Change

Dynamic factors can change in an adolescent's assessment. These include:

- dysfunctional parenting;
- poor education/vocational skills;
- antisocial peer associations;
- substance abuse:
- poor use of leisure time;

- dysfunctional personality/behavior traits (e.g., aggression, poor frustration tolerance, impulsivity, defiance of authority); and
- attitude, values, and beliefs supportive of crime.
- 5.5 Risk factors associated with sexual reoffending by adolescents have not been clearly identified and therefore practitioners need to stay abreast of the most current research.
- 5.6 Research studies focusing on factors that protect against continued sexually abusive behavior by adolescents are limited. There currently is insufficient information to confidently identify protective factors specific to the sexually abusive behavior. However, delinquency and developmental psychopathology research provide a range of factors that may be relevant in facilitating desistance of the sexually abusive behavior. These factors, which warrant consideration and facilitation as potential protective factors include, but are not limited to:
 - a healthy sense of personal responsibility and self-efficacy;
 - effective emotion regulation and coping strategies;
 - self-control and impulse management;
 - capacity for problem-solving and effective planning skills;
 - a close relationship with at least one competent, caring, prosocial adult;
 - positive caregiver and family relationships;
 - caregiver monitoring and positive discipline;
 - friendships and/or romantic attachments with prosocial peers;
 - · prosocial investments, such as school engagement;
 - involvement in positive activities;
 - positive community supports;
 - an optimistic future orientation; and
 - finding meaning in life (e.g., spirituality).

Responsivity Factors

- 5.7 Practitioners recognize that effective interventions are tailored to individual and family characteristics and circumstances. Factors that may enhance or impede treatment responsiveness are assessed and documented, and practitioners provide associated recommendations as appropriate. Such factors are relevant for the adolescent and are important for engaging caregivers. The factors include, but are not limited to:
 - motivation and readiness:
 - cognitive abilities or challenges;
 - learning difficulties (e.g., language and information processing challenges, attention difficulties);
 - learning style;
 - temperament or personality style;
 - mental, physical, or behavioral health challenges;
 - emotional, psychological, and/or behavioral health challenges;
 - religious beliefs;
 - biosocial factors (age, gender, ethnic/cultural); and
 - familial stability and support.

Assessment Domains

- 6.0 Practitioners recognize that assessment of risk, needs, and responsivity are holistic in nature and that risk and protective factors associated with sexually abusive behavior and nonsexual offending are multi-determined. When conducting assessments, practitioners consider individual, caregiver/family, peer, school, and community factors, as well as situational risk and protective factors.
- 6.1 Individual domains and areas of assessment may include, but are not limited to:

Developmental History

Factors to consider in the adolescent's developmental history include:

- relevant prenatal, birth, or early history information;
- child maltreatment, trauma, abuse, neglect, changes in caregivers, or placement instability;
- relevant injuries or medical problems;
- education (e.g., school engagement, problem behaviors and consequences, learning challenges, strengths, and positive achievements);
- employment, if relevant;
- social/relationship history (e.g., quality of relationships with family members, positive and/or negative relationships with adults, delinquent and/or prosocial peer associations, and quality and quantity of the relationships or social isolation);
- sexual history and overall sexual functioning (e.g., puberty, sexual knowledge, pornography use [type and frequency], sexting, sexual orientation and gender identity, past sexual activities, current sexual outlets, sex with multiple partners, sexual concerns or problems, masturbatory practices and frequency, fantasies, and sexual attitudes and beliefs);
- illegal substance use/abuse;
- mental, physical, and behavioral health history and current psychological functioning including cognitive functioning, learning strengths and challenges, mental health diagnoses, and medications;
- conduct problems (e.g., delinquency or other rule-violating behavior, aggression, or violence) including age of onset, severity, frequency, and persistence, as reported by official records (e.g., police or school reports), the adolescent, and caregivers; and
- strengths, goals, and motivation for treatment and prosocial living.

Problematic and Abusive Sexual Behaviors

Factors to review include:

- abusive sexual behaviors (current or previous),
 - types of abusive sexual behavior (e.g., hands on, hands off),
 - gender and age of person victimized,

- relationship to the person victimized,
- level of coercion or violence used,
- degree of invasiveness,
- adolescent's version of the abuse, victim(s)' version(s) by official or victim advocate report(s), adolescent's caregivers' version(s),
- consequences and responses to sanctions or interventions;
- patterns of offending,
 - antecedents,
 - frequency,
 - duration/desistance,
 - escalation in frequency or severity; and
- other problematic sexual behavior including:
 - excessive preoccupation with sexual fantasies and behaviors,
 - excessive sexual activities such as compulsive masturbation,
 - frequent highly sexualized language,
 - · sexualized gestures and behaviors, and
 - persistent sexual interests involving significantly younger children, or coercion or force.

Family Domain

Caregivers and people residing in the home and extended family are important and can provide information on current and historical factors such as:

- reaction and response to the abusive sexual behavior and/or any prior problematic sexual behavior;
- emotional and behavioral stability;
- substance use and abuse;
- child maltreatment/family violence experienced or perpetrated;
- history of child welfare or criminal justice involvement;
- knowledge of normative and non-normative sexual behavior in childhood and adolescence;
- sexual attitudes (e.g., attitudes that justify sexual abuse);
- personal sexual behavior and boundaries (e.g., sexual behavior is private);
- caregiver monitoring/supervision;

- · caregiver parenting style and behavior management skills; and
- caregiver strengths, supports, and challenges.

Home Environment

Factors in the home environment include:

- communication and relationship quality among family members;
- rules and routines (clear, stable, developmentally appropriate);
- discipline (consistency, developmentally appropriate);
- · privacy boundaries reinforced and supported;
- level of conflict or violence in the home;
- exposure to sexual media or other inappropriate sexual behavior;
- unsupervised access to someone the adolescent could sexually harm;
- encouragement of healthy coping strategies and adaptive skills;
- good safety plans and follow-through; and
- family strengths, supports, and challenges, including extended family and other supports.

Social and Community

Social and community factors may include:

- school engagement;
- school suspensions or expulsion;
- prosocial peers or lack thereof;
- involvement in positive extra-curricular activities (e.g., sports, theatre, debate, music);
- peer rejection, harassment, or bullying by peers;
- negative community response (e.g., ostracism); and
- public registration/community notification.

Assessment Methods

- 7.0 Practitioners use reliable and appropriate assessment methods and document them, as well as assessment findings and recommendations, in a written report. Procedures and methods are developmentally appropriate, empirically-informed, and supported by professional guidelines. The depth and breadth of the report will depend on the type of assessment. Any and all limitations are explained within the report.
- 7.1 Practitioners use multiple sources of information, to the extent possible and practical, to enhance the accuracy of assessment findings. Sources of information are documented in the assessment report and practitioners note when information of interest could not be obtained. Sources of information include, but are not limited to:
 - interviews with the adolescent:
 - interviews with caregivers or parents;
 - interviews with other relevant collateral sources:
 - reviews of relevant records (e.g., police reports, victim statements, and the adolescent's mental health, medical, education, and juvenile court histories);
 - structured evidence-based risk and needs assessment protocols; and
 - relevant developmentally appropriate and normed measures (e.g., psychological, psychosocial, intellectual), as needed.
- 7.2 Practitioners act to engage adolescents and their family members/caregivers, as appropriate, in the initial and progress assessments. As part of this process, practitioners afford the adolescent and legal guardians opportunities to make informed decisions about their participation in the assessment. These steps include, but are not limited to:
 - using developmentally and cognitively appropriate language tailored to the adolescent's age, developmental maturity, and cognitive functioning;

- ensuring information is understood by the adolescent as well as by his/her legal guardian, such as by asking them to verify their understanding using their own words;
- reviewing and clarifying the nature and purposes of the assessment;
- specifying limits on confidentiality, such as by identifying the
 persons or entities to whom a report of the assessment will be
 provided and the circumstances under which information may
 otherwise be released;
- outlining potential benefits and risks of participating in the assessment and those associated with specific procedures that will be used;
- making it clear that the adolescent and/or guardian may decline to participate in all or part of the assessment, how such decisions will be documented and reported, the potential risks and benefits of such decisions, and referring legal questions to their attorney;
- encouraging and responding to questions posed by the adolescent or his/her guardian about the assessment process; and
- obtaining appropriate, written, informed consent and assent before proceeding with the evaluation, and ensuring that the provided information about the assessment is well understood.
- 7.3 Practitioners recognize the potential complications and legal issues when disclosures of previously undetected sexual abuse by the adolescent or by others are made during the interview. In some jurisdictions there are legal mandates to report undisclosed child abuse and/or neglect or suspicions of child abuse and/or neglect. In these situations, practitioners will describe how disclosed information regarding previously undisclosed offenses, child abuse and neglect, or imminent intent to harm self or others will be shared and the consequences that might arise from the disclosure.

Assessment Measures

8.0 Practitioners understand that objective and standardized instruments can provide collateral sources of information useful for understanding the adolescent, his/her family, and the social environment in which the adolescent resides.

General Guidelines

- 8.1 Practitioners use assessment instruments they are trained and qualified to employ. These instruments are used in accordance with the instruction manuals and established assessment procedures and standards.
- 8.2 Practitioners recognize that assessment measures vary in quality and research support. Practitioners evaluate the psychometric properties of selected measures, identifying issues such as reliability and validity, and favor measures most supported by empirical research. Practitioners explain in the assessment report the strengths and limitations of the selected instruments in non-technical language and ensure that statements about the findings remain within the scope of these measures.
- 8.3 Practitioners employ tests and measures relevant and appropriate to the referral questions. Practitioners consider the adolescent's age, gender, culture, primary language, cognitive functioning, and other potentially relevant characteristics.

Psychophysiological Measures

Polygraph and plethysmography are physiological measurements designed for use with adults. Their use was extended to adolescents (and younger children) without establishing the measures' scientific validity and without full consideration of their potential for harm. In particular, no research has subjected either measurement to controlled evaluation with relevant comparison groups such as adolescents who have not offended sexually. There are, therefore, no norms against which to compare measurement results, which severely limits their interpretability. More generally, neither measurement has been shown to improve treatment outcomes, reduce recidivism, or enhance community safety. Neither measurement is regularly used outside of the United States. Indeed, some countries have banned the use of one or both measurements with minors.

Ethical concerns raised for both measurements include the potential for coercion and for engendering fear, shame, and other negative responses in adolescent clients. Further ethical concerns relate to the prospect of basing impactful decisions (including those relevant to such things as legal restrictions and/or family reunification) on the results of measurements that are largely unsupported empirically. Separately, plethysmography involves the ethically concerning practice of exposing adolescents to developmentally inappropriate sexual material. Without a clearly identified benefit and with a potential for harm, ATSA recommends against using polygraph or plethysmography with adolescents under age 18. ATSA recommends the use of valid assessment procedures as outlined throughout this section of the ATSA Adolescent Practice Guidelines.

Risk and Needs Assessment Measures

- 8.4 Practitioners using risk assessment measures are aware that methodological challenges are inherent in research regarding risk assessment tools. Recent meta-analytic findings, however, indicate that several of the most frequently used sexual risk assessment measures, are an improvement over unstructured clinical judgment, relying on individual risk factors or general delinquency risk assessment tools when assessing risks and needs with adolescents who have sexually abused others.
- 8.5 Practitioners are aware that, when used appropriately and responsibly, research-supported sexual and nonsexual risk and needs assessment measures may assist in identifying relevant factors associated with sexual and nonsexual recidivism and, thereby, can help guide effective interventions.
- 8.6 Practitioners who conduct risk and needs assessments of adolescents who have sexually abused use one or more of the most empirically supported, independently evaluated, sex-offense-specific risk assessment measures rather than relying on unstructured clinical judgment. As newly developed tools become available, practitioners evaluate relevant professional literature to determine research support before using them.
- 8.7 Practitioners understand that risk assessment measures that include dynamic risk factors may be most useful for identifying risk-relevant treatment targets and facilitating effective interventions.
- 8.8 Practitioners understand that, although risk assessment measures can facilitate systematic reviews of relevant risk and protective factors, they do not include all potentially important factors, are not stand-alone risk assessment protocols, and are not substitutes for a thorough assessment of relevant risk and protective factors or case analysis.

8.9 The most empirically supported, independently evaluated, sex-offense-specific risk assessment measures were developed for male adolescents only. When conducting risk and needs assessments with adolescents who have not been a specific focus of these risk measures (e.g., females, adolescents with developmental or cognitive disabilities), practitioners ensure they are knowledgeable of and familiar with the relevant professional literature regarding risk and protective factors and risk assessment with these populations. If practitioners decide to use a measure not specifically designed and researched with adolescents similar to the person they are assessing, they provide a clinical and empirically informed rationale for its use. Practitioners also thoroughly evaluate new risk assessment measures, including psychometric properties, intended for use with a wider population of adolescents who sexually abuse, before using them.

Assessment Conclusions

- 8.10 Practitioners evaluate the extent to which assessment data (e.g., self-reports, collateral information, tests, measures) converge or diverge and consider possible alternative interpretations of the information before presenting their conclusions. Evaluating multiple sources of information in this manner may enhance the accuracy of assessment conclusions and the usefulness of recommendations.
- 8.11 Practitioners summarize the strengths and limitations of the assessment, their procedures, and how these factors may have influenced assessment findings. Factors that may influence the accuracy of assessments include the adolescent's legal status, the degree of engagement and motivation to participate honestly, the extent to which collateral sources were available and reported openly and accurately, and the quality of available records, such as whether requested records were obtained or sufficient.

- 8.12 Practitioners present short-term risk and needs assessment findings that identify individual, family, and other socio-ecological risk and protective factors, and discuss how these factors may interact to increase the likelihood of further sexually abusive behavior, nonsexual offending, or desistance from offending.
- 8.13 Practitioners realize that attempts to make long-range predictions of future sexually abusive or other types of offending behaviors, especially among adolescents, typically result in mistakenly identifying some individuals as potential recidivists when they are not and identifying others as unlikely to reoffend when they actually may do so.
- 8.14 Practitioners recognize and discuss the generally low sexual recidivism rate of adolescents who have sexually offended (typically between 5-15%) and discuss factors that may increase or decrease the likelihood of sexual reoffending relative to this base rate.
- 8.15 Practitioners discuss the adolescent's and his/her family's characteristics and circumstances that may contribute to increasing risk as well as desistance, and those that may facilitate or impede positive treatment responses.
- 8.16 Practitioners discuss the frequency and pervasiveness of risk and protective factors and the implications of these findings for referring adolescents to appropriate treatments, supervision levels, and treatment intensity.
- 8.17 Practitioners recognize that risk for reoffending is multi-determined and is influenced by individual, familial, situational, and other factors. Consequently, person-specific risk labels, such as "he or she is a high, low, or moderate risk" should be avoided and, if used, must be used cautiously and include the context.

8.18 Practitioners articulate specific rationales for all conclusions, opinions, and recommendations using language that is readily understandable to consumers of the assessment, such as the adolescent and his/her family.

Assessment Recommendations

- 8.19 Recommendations are linked to assessment findings. It is inappropriate to use these instruments or the scores derived from them in ways that exceed their intended purposes or to make long-term, unrealistic recommendations.
- 8.20 Practitioners understand that recommendations are linked to assessed risk, needs, and responsivity factors. Recommendations are designed to promote prosocial development by building on existing strengths, protective factors, and prosocial goals, thereby reducing the risk of future sexually abusive behavior. Practitioners also include suggestions that may facilitate treatment engagement and positive responses.
- 8.21 Practitioners recommend interventions based on the soundest research available. When evidence-supported interventions are unavailable, recommendations discuss evidence- informed interventions consistent with those that have demonstrated effectiveness with adolescents who have sexually abused or, if appropriate, have engaged in other types of offending; may reduce risk; and successfully promote healthy and prosocial development.
- 8.22 Practitioners make recommendations that are clear and practical and do not pose unnecessary conditions or undue burdens upon the adolescent and his/her family. Recommended interventions are prioritized to first facilitate safety and address pressing dynamic individual and family case management and treatment needs.

- 8.23 Practitioners recommend interventions that can occur in the least restrictive setting while maintaining community safety and involve family or other caregivers, unless contraindicated.
- 8.24 Practitioners recommend intervention strategies tailored to individual, family, and community characteristics to facilitate and maximize treatment engagement and responsiveness. Adolescence is a time of important neurobiological, psychological, and social development. Activities that facilitate prosocial development, such as school engagement, prosocial peers and associations, and positive mentoring relationships, can foster attitudes, skills, and behaviors inconsistent with sexual and nonsexual offending. Although case management or treatment interventions may be needed as well, it is important that they not unnecessarily detract from prosocial activities and normative development. It is important that recommendations foster healthy adolescent development.

F. TREATMENT INTERVENTIONS

Overview

Adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior are a diverse population in regard to age and maturity level, learning styles and challenges, protective factors, and risk factors associated with reoffending. Interventions with this population should take into consideration these varied factors, as well as the low rates of sexual recidivism and significantly higher rates of nonsexual recidivism. Thus, effective interventions with this population are responsive to the diversity of the population in combination with the need to address sexual and nonsexual risk for reoffending by providing an individualized, holistic treatment framework.

Current studies suggest that cognitive-behavioral, skills-based, and multi-systemic approaches that involve caregivers in treatment have the most research support for youth with a range of behavior problems, including adolescents who engage in sexually abusive behavior. Research suggests that effective treatment interventions are characterized by:

- focusing on dynamic risk factors supported by current research;
- promoting safety while facilitating prosocial and developmentally appropriate skill development;
- using evidence-based interventions that match presenting risk and needs;
- including caregivers and other positive supports;
- addressing risk and protective factors across the adolescent's natural ecologies (e.g., family, peers, school);
- occurring in the natural environment when possible to allow the adolescent and his/her caregivers to practice skills and use social supports in real-life situations;

- tailoring approaches to match individual characteristics and circumstances of the adolescent (e.g., developmental status, learning styles, gender, culture); and
- addressing sexually abusive behavior problems as well as other conduct problems.

Treatment for adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior and juvenile-justice-involved populations is most effective when delivered in accordance with the evidence-based principles of correctional intervention – risk, need, and responsivity. As a reminder, specific to treatment and interventions:

- Risk informs the intensity of services as well as the level of structure and supervision.
- Need ensures that treatment focuses on factors related to recidivism (general and sexual) as well as individualized needs related to the adolescent's well-being.
- Responsivity supports the use of cognitive-behavioral techniques and skills building while adapting and adjusting approaches and interventions as needed due to factors that impact the adolescent and his/her family's response to treatment.
- Individual and ecological protective factors or strengths are identified and built on within treatment.

Treatment services are best offered and provided along a continuum of care – from community-based (outpatient) interventions to secure residential or correctional-based treatment programs. To be most successful, the level of intensity and restrictiveness of services must match the current treatment and supervision needs which, depending on the youth and his/her family and circumstances, are likely to change over time. Most adolescents can be safely treated in community settings. Residential and correctional settings should be reserved for the minority of youth who present with significant risk factors for recidivism or other treatment needs that cannot be met in community settings.

Interventions such as psychiatric or mental health care, educational services, and community supervision contribute to public safety efforts and promote the overall stability and success of adolescents. Thus, treatment providers often collaborate with other professionals who have various roles and responsibilities working with youth, such as child welfare workers, probation and parole staff, educational professionals, victim advocates, and other professionals. Treatment providers should remain abreast of current research in these fields and align their practices accordingly.

Treatment Provider Qualifications

- 9.0 Practitioners remain apprised of contemporary research and engage in professional development activities to ground their provision of research-supported and evidence-based interventions for adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior.
- 9.1 Practitioners have the knowledge and skills necessary to provide effective interventions and adequately address youth responsivity factors and/or special needs by consulting with knowledgeable experts, accessing specialized training, and participating in other professional development activities as needed.
- 9.2 Practitioners recognize their strengths and limitations with respect to their ability to provide adequately responsive services to youth, and refer youth to providers skilled in addressing specific responsivity factors as necessary.
- 9.3 Practitioners providing treatment for adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior collaborate with other professionals including judges, probation and parole officers, child welfare workers, educators, victim therapists, and others to facilitate appropriate information sharing and further the goals of treatment. Such collaboration and cooperation is consistent with and limited to activities and behaviors appropriate to practitioners' professional roles.

9.4 Practitioners encourage, support, and participate in ongoing empirical research efforts designed to identify and refine effective interventions for adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior and those at risk to sexually abuse others.

Treatment of the Whole Youth

- 9.5 Practitioners understand that the dynamic nature of adolescent development informs interventions with adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior. Thus, practitioners use developmentally congruent and appropriate interventions that support maturation in the physical, cognitive, social, emotional, language, and moral domains, thereby supporting healthy adolescent development.
- 9.6 Practitioners recognize that interventions are informed by the diversity of the population of adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior. The many factors that contribute to diversity include trauma and chaotic family environments, psychosocial competence, a history of delinquency, personality characteristics, clinical presentation, ecological risks, protective factors, risk for sexual and nonsexual recidivism, and treatment and supervision needs.
- 9.7 Practitioners appreciate that the evidence for the diverse developmental and dynamic factors associated with adolescent sexually abusive behavior along with the recognition that this population has higher rates of nonsexual recidivism than sexual recidivism, calls for a more holistic, comprehensive treatment plan fostering healthy development and targeting needs related to both sexual and nonsexual conduct problems, as well as other influential factors.

Treatment within the Broader Social-Ecological Approach

- 9.8 Interventions with adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior are informed by a social-ecological model that views youth as developing within a complex network of reciprocally interacting contexts and relationships. This model highlights influential factors on multiple levels including the individual level (e.g., the adolescent's personality traits, cognitive abilities, physical abilities, emotional regulation skills); the family level (e.g., stability within the family, parenting style, parents' emotional regulation skills, composition of family); and the community level (e.g., peers, school, neighborhood, economic/recreation opportunities, political influences, and cultural influences). Effective interventions address multiple factors and intervene at multiple levels.
- 9.9 Practitioners appreciate that parental/caregiver involvement in treatment is critical and that their support and involvement in treatment is needed to provide continuity of care beyond the end of treatment and the supervision and guidance necessary to successfully parent adolescents. Family-based interventions are associated with reduced sexual and nonsexual recidivism.
- 9.10 Practitioners recognize that treatment interventions with youth who have sexually abused involve the treatment provider working closely with other professionals such as teachers, child welfare workers, juvenile justice professionals, court officers, family treatment providers, and other community support persons to facilitate successful treatment outcomes. These professionals and community support persons may have varying roles and/or responsibilities in attending to the youth's specific risk, needs, responsivity, and protective factors.

Treatment Engagement and Motivation

- 9.11 Practitioners strive to foster youth and family engagement and internal motivation at the inception and throughout the course of treatment, recognizing that these process-related variables enhance treatment responsiveness and facilitate positive outcomes.
- 9.12 Practitioners recognize that, although many youth present for treatment as a direct result of legal or other mandates, external motivators alone generally are insufficient for producing longterm change among youth.
- 9.13 Practitioners understand that a youth's engagement may increase, and resistance may decrease, when the treatment provider, the adolescent, and his/her caregivers collaborate on treatment goals and objectives. As such, to the extent possible, practitioners involve youth and their caregivers in the development of their treatment plans and in identifying realistic goals and objectives.
- 9.14 When appropriate, practitioners clarify, at the inception of treatment, the adolescent's and caregivers' understanding of the problem(s) for which the youth has been referred to treatment.
- 9.15 Practitioners recognize that adolescents and their caregivers present with differing levels of internal motivation to change and may have varied types and levels of denial and minimization related to the adolescent's sexually abusive behavior, sexual interests and arousal, and attitudes and beliefs, but that such characteristics do not preclude access to treatment and intervention.
- 9.16 Practitioners recognize that although offense denial and minimization may impact the adolescent's engagement in treatment, the influence of denial and minimization on sexual recidivism risk has not been clearly established and may vary among adolescent subpopulations.

- 9.17 Practitioners support youth in being honest in discussing their history and functioning, but acknowledge that it is not the role of treatment providers to attempt to determine or verify a youth's legal guilt or innocence, or to coerce confessions of unreported or undetected sexually abusive behaviors.
- 9.18 Practitioners routinely explore and seek the adolescent's perspective on treatment and offer feedback on the youth's engagement, motivation, and progress in treatment, or lack thereof.

Therapeutic Relationship

- 9.19 Practitioners are aware of the strong empirical support for, and recognize the importance of, the quality of the therapeutic relationship in regard to positive treatment outcomes.
- 9.20 Practitioners recognize that treatment for adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior is more effective when treatment providers engage youth and their caregivers in the treatment process and interact with them in a respectful, directive, and empathic manner.
- 9.21 Practitioners provide treatment services in a respectful, directive, and humane manner, and facilitate a therapeutic environment conducive to trust and candor.

General Considerations During Treatment

9.22 Practitioners understand that treatment is guided by ethical principles and current empirical research aimed at maximizing treatment effectiveness, promoting public safety, facilitating prosocial goals for youth, and maintaining the integrity of the profession.

- 9.23 Practitioners provide treatment in accordance with the ATSA Code of Ethics (2017) and any additional ethical standards, codes, laws, or other expectations for a practitioner's respective profession or discipline. This includes ethical standards pertaining, but not limited, to:
 - informed consent:
 - specialized training, knowledge, expertise, and scope of practice:
 - documentation and retention of records:
 - knowledge and application of research;
 - confidentiality;
 - · professional relationships; and
 - conduct.

Assessment-Informed Treatment

- 9.24 Practitioners recognize the importance of individualized, assessment-driven treatment services, and deliver treatment accordingly.
- 9.25 Practitioners ensure that, prior to initiating treatment services for adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior, a recent assessment has been completed of the youth's and family's strengths, risk factors for recidivism, and intervention needs.
- 9.26 Practitioners conduct an assessment designed to identify dynamic risk factors present for a given youth as well as risk and protective factors in the youth's family and social environment prior to developing an individualized treatment plan.
- 9.27 Practitioners develop and implement an individualized, written treatment plan for each youth outlining clear and specific treatment goals and objectives consistent with the results of a current or recent assessment and other relevant information. The plan informs treatment targets and strategies, duration, and placement decisions.

- 9.28 Practitioners ensure treatment plans are reviewed and updated routinely, using multiple sources of information (e.g., self-reports, caregiver input, therapist evaluations, behavioral information, legal parties' input, and other assessments). Treatment providers adjust or revise interventions as indicated.
- 9.29 Practitioners understand that some individuals may present for treatment in the absence of legal or other mandates, and that appropriate services should be made accessible to such individuals with clear informed consent to ensure awareness of mandatory reporting requirements.
- 9.30 Practitioners working with subpopulations of adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior (e.g., individuals with intellectual and developmental disabilities, youth with serious mental illness, adolescent females) recognize there is limited research with these subpopulations and ensure they have reviewed the available research and resources specific to the subpopulation they are serving.

Treatment Programming

Practitioners focus treatment interventions primarily on needs related to healthy social, psychological, and cognitive development, and research-supported dynamic risk factors linked to sexual and nonsexual recidivism (e.g., criminogenic needs) over factors that have not been shown to be associated with recidivism. It is important that treatment does not narrowly focus on the sexually abusive behavior, but addresses other assessed risk, relevant needs, and protective factors that can promote prosocial, healthy relationships and healthy lives. Treatment providers also should include treatment targets that enhance therapeutic alliance engagement, and treatment responsiveness.

Treatment Targets

10.0 Practitioners are aware that the following treatment targets have been associated with sexual recidivism. However, specific targets might not be relevant for an individual youth or his/her family. Moreover, addressing unnecessary targets can reduce both the clinical and cost effectiveness of interventions and may unnecessarily lengthen treatment duration, which could have unintended negative effects.

Social Isolation/Low Social Competence

- Practitioners deliver services designed to remediate deficits in self-esteem, self-efficacy, and social competence.
- Treatment providers orient their interventions to help adolescents develop skills that can enable them to establish and maintain prosocial relationships with age-appropriate friends and build on strengths in existing relationships. Practitioners understand that parents are key to ensuring youth have opportunities to strengthen prosocial relationships (e.g., by providing welcoming, appropriately supervised environments for youth gatherings).
- 10.3 When possible while maintaining public safety, practitioners collaborate with other professionals and caregivers to provide the adolescent with opportunities to participate in normative, developmentally appropriate prosocial activities to facilitate prosocial skill development and relationships.
- 10.4 Practitioners help adolescents develop skills that can enable them to establish and maintain prosocial, intimate relationships with age-appropriate partners.

Attitudes Supportive of Abusive Behavior

10.5 Practitioners recognize that an adolescent's attitudes and beliefs supportive of abusive behavior including sexual abuse (e.g., women enjoy being raped, children can give consent for sexual behavior) are important treatment targets.

Parent-Adolescent Relationships

- 10.6 Practitioners ensure caregiver-based interventions focus on enhancing the strengths of family relations supportive of prosocial family functioning and healthy adolescent development. Treatment providers enhance caregivers' capacity to effectively supervise and monitor youth behavior, to support responsible youth behavior, and to intervene as appropriate.
- 10.7 Practitioners collaborate with other involved professionals and caregivers to design safety plans that fit the individual needs of the adolescent and family as well as the safety of the community. Safety plans articulate rules and expectations for the youth; clarify adult responsibilities for supervision, discipline, and reinforcement for appropriate behaviors; and are intended to reduce risk of continued problem behaviors.
- 10.8 Practitioners identify and design interventions and make appropriate referrals to overcome barriers to positive parenting and to effective youth supervision and monitoring. Such barriers might include caregiver substance abuse, caregiver mental health difficulties, high levels of family stress, and other factors.

10.9 Practitioners develop family-based interventions that focus on enhancing the positive affective aspects of family relations important to healthy families and the favorable social development of adolescents. In particular, the parent-child affective bond is targeted if appropriate. The aim is to improve this bond so youth will internalize a desire for parental approval and so parents will sustain their effort in the face of typical adolescent challenging behaviors and mistakes.

General Self-Regulation

- 10.10 Practitioners help adolescents learn to self-manage impulsivity and cognitive-emotional states that support or contribute to the potential to engage in sexually abusive behavior as well as other conduct problems.
- 10.11 Practitioners help adolescents learn and practice stress management, problem-solving and impulse-control skills.

Healthy Sexuality Including Sexual Self-Regulation

- 10.12 Practitioners recognize that only a subgroup of adolescents who engage in sexually abusive behavior experience sexual arousal toward prepubescent children, sexual preoccupation, hypersexuality, or arousal to violence that interferes with normative developmental activities and may contribute to sexually harming self or others.
- 10.13 Research studies regarding interventions that effectively address sexual interest and arousal to children, coercion, or force in adolescents are limited. Practitioners use best practice interventions as described in the literature and, when using behavioral strategies that have limited research support, have appropriate training, obtain consultations, or refer to someone more experienced with this problem.

- 10.14 Practitioners design interventions that support and promote healthy sexuality including healthy sexual expression and appropriate sexual regulation.
- 10.15 Practitioners understand that treatment focuses on cognitions that support age-inappropriate and/or nonconsensual sexual interest, arousal, and behavior to assist the youth in enhancing his/her sexual self-regulation.
- 10.16 Practitioners recognize the need to focus not only on problem sexual behavior but also on the development of social and sexual competencies associated with healthy intimate relationships and sexuality. This includes creating opportunities for learning appropriate social, courtship, and dating skills, and assisting youth in overcoming social anxiety.
- 10.17 When applicable, practitioners help adolescents find effective ways to minimize contact with persons or situations that evoke or increase a given youth's sexual interests or arousal to children, coercion, and force. For example, an adolescent who sexually abused children would be restricted from babysitting.

Social and Community Supports

- 10.18 In addition to family and other community support persons, practitioners encourage and help adolescents develop appropriate relationships with prosocial individuals who can act as positive support/supervision contacts. These may include supportive peers, teachers, coaches, and extended family members.
- 10.19 Practitioners encourage family members, support persons, and involved community practitioners to actively participate in the treatment process as appropriate and to help youth develop and maintain prosocial lifestyles.

10.20 Practitioners assist youth who are transitioning to the community or are already in the community to develop and maintain stable prosocial lifestyles, which are characterized by stable and appropriate living arrangements and educational and leisure activities to help promote community safety.

Nonsexual Delinquency

10.21 Practitioners recognize that some adolescents are likely to benefit from treatment that targets general delinquency factors including values, attitudes, and beliefs supportive of offending, and association with delinquent or negative peers. Practitioners address these issues in treatment when appropriate.

Treatment Modalities

- 10.22 Practitioners use empirically supported methods of intervention to the extent that such research is available. Currently recommended treatment methods include cognitive-behavioral, skills-oriented, and socio-ecological interventions that target dynamic risk factors, mitigate risk, and enhance protective factors in the adolescent's family and ecology.
- 10.23 Practitioners appreciate the diversity among adolescents who sexually abuse others, and understand that responsiveness to treatment can vary as a function of a youth's characteristics (e.g., demographics, language, cognitive and social development, mental capabilities, adaptive functioning, and motivation to change).
- 10.24 When practical, practitioners collaborate with others to deliver services in settings that allow adolescents to practice skills and use social supports in real-life situations, and help the youth learn to generalize and apply those skills to various environments.

- 10.25 Practitioners understand that for some subpopulations of adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior, specialized treatment services are best provided subsequent to or in concert with other psychiatric, behavioral, or responsivity-oriented interventions. Practitioners offering specialized treatment collaborate with the providers of such services to ensure that specialized services are complementary.
- 10.26 Practitioners recognize that services are delivered using a variety of modalities, including psycho-educational, group, individual, family, and multi-systemic approaches matched to the adolescent's and family's intervention needs and responsivity factors.
- Practitioners focus family-based interventions on empowering caregivers to obtain or develop the resources and skills needed to more effectively parent and manage their children's behavior. Commonly targeted caregiver competencies include the ability to provide consistent monitoring and supervision, and efforts to address other factors that might contribute to an adolescent's problem behavior (e.g., associating with delinquent peers and poor school performance). The goal of family-based interventions is to create a context that supports adaptive youth behavior (e.g., relationships with prosocial peers, effective parenting, success in school) rather than a context that encourages antisocial and/or problem sexual behavior. Family-based interventions also aim to improve support of caregivers from other family, friends, and members of the community to help sustain positive behavioral change and healthy development.
- 10.28 Practitioners working with adolescents who have sexually offended within the family collaborate with caregivers and other professionals involved in the case, including the treatment provider for the victim, in assessing and making determinations about when and if contact, clarification, and family reunification is appropriate.

- 10.29 Practitioners help adolescents identify and address the factors (e.g., environmental, cognitive, affective, behavioral, relational) that increase or mitigate their risk to engage in sexually abusive behaviors.
- 10.30 Interventions, including cognitive-behavioral therapies, are used to help adolescents and their parents identify and analyze the factors (e.g., environmental, cognitive, affective, behavioral, relational) that might increase an adolescent's vulnerability to engage in sexually abusive behavior and nonsexual conduct problems. Treatment is used to help adolescents develop and rehearse strategies to effectively manage situations that may increase their risk of sexually abusing or otherwise reoffending. Skill building also strives to increase youth engagement in prosocial activities, including appropriate dating and sexual behaviors.
- 10.31 Practitioners use established cognitive therapy techniques as well as social learning and other evidence-informed interventions to increase an adolescent's attitudes and beliefs that support prosocial, non-abusive behaviors, while helping the youth manage or decrease any attitudes, beliefs, and values that support offending, abusive, and unhealthy behaviors.
- 10.32 Practitioners use behavioral methods such as education, modeling, supervised practice, rehearsal, and positive reinforcement to teach adolescents skills that will help them achieve prosocial goals.
- 10.33 Practitioners help adolescents identify and enhance approach goals (e.g., prosocial interests, skills, and behaviors the youth themselves seek to enhance or attain) as opposed to strictly focusing on managing inappropriate thoughts, interests, behaviors, and risky situations (i.e., avoidance goals).

- 10.34 Practitioners, when applicable and after careful consideration of the pros and cons, may use specialized and least invasive cognitive-behavioral, behavioral, and/or pharmacological techniques that are informed by the research and known to be associated with reductions in sexual interests and arousal to children, coercion, or force, and associated with improving management and control of sexual impulses.
- 10.35 Practitioners recognize there are situations in which psychopharmacological intervention is an appropriate adjunct to other interventions or needed for psychiatric stabilization. Practitioners understand that, currently, no medications have been validated as effective interventions for reducing adolescent sexually abusive behavior. Situations which support assessment by a child and adolescent psychiatrist or psychiatric nurse practitioner for consideration of psychopharmacological interventions include:
 - Presence of sexual preoccupation with children, coercion, or force, or hypersexual behavior;
 - Presence of a mental health diagnosis and symptoms that interfere with healthy functioning such as significant impulsivity or poor self-regulation; and
 - Presence of serious emotional disturbance or serious psychiatric diagnosis such as schizophrenia and serious bipolar disorders.

As with any intervention, the use of medications must be developmentally appropriate and the potential benefits associated with psychopharmacological intervention must clearly outweigh the risks, such as adverse side effects. Practitioners must discuss possible risks as well as any limitations regarding the treatment efficacy of the psychopharmacological approach with the adolescent and guardians to ensure the adolescent and his/her caregivers clearly understand the issues and are able to give informed consent to the treatment.

Treatment Process or Discharge

- 10.36 Practitioners apply the risk and needs principles throughout the treatment process to inform treatment decisions including frequency, focus, and duration of treatment.
- 10.37 Practitioners recognize that decisions about when an adolescent moves from an out-of-community placement are based on the individual youth's risk and needs, not on a pre-established curriculum or set of objectives. Adolescents are moved to a less restrictive environment and less intensive services when their risk and needs support being safely served outside more restrictive and intensive settings.
- 10.38 Practitioners recognize and communicate that successful discharge from a treatment program/regimen indicates the adolescent and his/her caregivers, when appropriate, have demonstrated progress related to the goals and objectives of the individualized treatment plan designed to reduce the adolescent's risk to reoffend and increase stability and prosocial behaviors to such a degree that the adolescent's level of risk and needs supports a decrease in intensity of services or the ending of formal treatment. Successful completion does not indicate the individual's risk to reoffend has been eliminated completely.
- 10.39 Practitioners develop written treatment contracts/agreements (e.g., treatment consent forms) to ensure clarity and agreement among the provider, adolescent, and legal custodian and caregivers, when appropriate. Such contracts address, at a minimum:
 - the nature, goals, and objectives of treatment;
 - the limits of confidentiality;
 - the expected frequency and duration of treatment;
 - rules and expectations of treatment program participants;
 - responsibilities of the treatment provider;
 - risks and benefits of participation and progress;

- consequences of noncompliance with program rules and expectations; and
- criteria used for assessing progress and determining program completion.
- 10.40 Practitioners routinely use multiple methods in an effort to objectively and reliably gauge treatment progress, particularly with respect to dynamic risk factors. These may include, but are not limited to:
 - behavioral information;
 - structured, research-supported tests and inventories (as indicated);
 - therapist evaluations;
 - youth self-reports; and
 - family and other collateral reports.
- 10.41 Practitioners routinely review the adolescent's individual treatment plan and clearly document in treatment records the specific and observable changes in factors associated with a youth's risk to recidivate, or the lack of such changes.
- 10.42 Practitioners review the adolescent's and family's progress toward attainment of goals and objectives related to decreasing risk and promoting healthy functioning when making decisions about successful discharge from treatment. An adolescent who is successfully discharged from treatment generally:
 - has developed recognition of antecedents, behaviors, and consequences related to past sexually abusive behaviors and has a plan for avoiding, refusing, or altering such antecedents;
 - · demonstrates functional coping patterns when stressed;
 - demonstrates the ability to manage anger, frustration, and unfavorable events;
 - demonstrates self-protection skills;
 - demonstrates prosocial relationship skills;

- has replaced inappropriate (or, in the case of social isolation, the absence of) peers and activities with prosocial peers and appropriately monitored prosocial activities;
- has developed, with his or her family, an understanding of appropriate dating, romantic, and sexual behaviors, and how these might change over time;
- has developed, with his or her family, a plan for successful school involvement; and
- when sexual interests of children, coercion, or force contributed to past sexually abusive behaviors, has developed a plan for addressing the occurrence of inappropriate sexual thoughts, fantasies, or behaviors.
- 10.43 Practitioners help caregivers develop enhanced capacity to effectively supervise and monitor youth behavior, support and reinforce responsible youth behavior, and consistently apply sanctions for inappropriate behavior.
- 10.44 Practitioners evaluate treatment progress within the context of a thorough understanding of the adolescent's individual capacities, abilities, vulnerabilities, and limitations. Associated recommendations should reference these factors and aim to stay within the bounds of what is likely or possible for the individual youth.
- 10.45 Practitioners providing community-based treatment recommend more intensive treatment and/or supervision if an adolescent experiences significant difficulties managing identified risk factors for sexual and nonsexual offending in a way that jeopardizes community safety.
- 10.46 Practitioners prepare the adolescent and his/her family for discharge from treatment. This may include a gradual reduction in frequency of contacts over time as treatment gains are made, booster sessions to reinforce and assess maintenance of treatment gains, and coordination with future service providers.

- 10.47 Practitioners are clear when communicating with youth, other professionals, and the public that some adolescents may require ongoing management of their risk and treatment needs.
- 10.48 Practitioners provide adolescents, caregivers, support persons, and appropriate professionals involved in ongoing case management with written information that includes follow-up recommendations for maintaining treatment gains.
- 10.49 Practitioners immediately notify the appropriate party(ies) if a legally mandated youth discontinues treatment or violates a mandated condition of parole, probation, or treatment.

G. SPECIAL POPULATIONS

Overview

In general, there is a relatively small body of research that has examined the assessment, treatment, and treatment outcomes of specific subpopulations of adolescents with sexually abusive or problematic behaviors. Due to this limited base of empirical knowledge, it is important that practitioners familiarize themselves with the research available in relation to specific subpopulations (e.g. adolescent females, developmentally delayed adolescents, adolescents diagnosed with Autism, and adolescents with co-occurring mental health problems), and then augment that knowledge with information gathered from research examining broader developmental, mental health, educational, behavioral, and treatment issues related to these populations. It also is important, given the limited research available, that practitioners are appropriately cautious about making broad references or comparisons regarding these adolescents to other groups of adolescents with sexual behavior problems when using research, assessment tools, or treatment programs that did not consider these specific populations in their design, normative samples, or outcomes.

Whenever possible, practitioners should make efforts to educate individuals involved in the decision making, education, and care of these adolescents about the current level of knowledge regarding sexual behavior problems in these populations as well as additional research that can help in making informed decisions involving assessment, treatment, and safety.

Assessment

- n.o Practitioners recognize the relatively limited research on the potentially unique characteristics, risk and protective factors, and intervention needs for special needs populations of adolescents with sexual behavior problems and the associated implications for the reliability and validity of assessments.
- II.I Practitioners conducting assessments on adolescents with special needs who have engaged in sexually abusive or problematic behavior have specialized training regarding these special needs populations.
- 11.2 Practitioners conducting assessments recognize that assessment instruments developed for and used with adolescent males who sexually abuse may not be appropriately normed, valid, or reliable for specific subpopulations of adolescents who engage in sexually abusive or problematic behavior. If such instruments are used, the practitioner reports the strengths and limitations of these measures in the particular case.
- 11.3 Practitioners conducting assessments select the most reliable and valid assessment instruments and procedures appropriate to the adolescent's age, gender, culture, language, developmental and intellectual functioning, and other differences.
- When providing assessment results, practitioners note in the report any limitations or biases of using instruments or procedures that were not developed to take into account an adolescent's age, gender, cultural background, socioeconomic status, education, language, or level of intellectual functioning.

Practitioners strive to meet the special needs of adolescents with developmental, learning, or physical impairments during assessments (e.g., using taped versions of questionnaires, modifying terminology/language on self-report instruments). Practitioners must document the reasons and the rationale for using alternative testing methods. In addition, it should be noted that these special accommodations might have an impact on the reliability and validity of instruments that are typically self-administered.

Treatment

- 12.0 Practitioners appreciate the diversity among adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive or problematic behaviors, and recognize that responsiveness to treatment can vary as a function of client characteristics such as gender, cultural background, developmental level, cognitive capabilities, and adaptive functioning.
- 12.1 Practitioners recognize that not all treatments have been developed or evaluated with various subpopulations of adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behaviors. Practitioners must identify the limitations of different treatment approaches with these various populations prior to initiating treatment.
- Practitioners assess and identify responsivity factors such as comprehension, cognitive capabilities, executive functioning skills, adaptive functional level, and other variables that may impact an adolescent's ability to maximally benefit from different approaches to providing sexual-abuse-specific treatment.
- 12.3 Practitioners adjust approaches and interventions to match adolescents to appropriate services based on identified responsivity factors, to maximize the benefits of treatment.

- 12.4 Practitioners make serious efforts to equip themselves with the knowledge and skills necessary to adequately address adolescents' responsivity factors and/or special needs by consulting with knowledgeable others, accessing specialized training, and participating in other professional development activities.
- 12.5 Practitioners recognize their strengths and limitations with respect to their ability to provide adequate, responsive services to some subgroups of adolescents and, when necessary, refer clients to providers skilled in addressing specific responsivity factors.
- 12.6 Practitioners understand that, for some subpopulations of adolescents, sexual-abuse-specific treatment services are best provided subsequent to or in concert with other psychiatric, behavioral, or responsivity-oriented interventions. Practitioners offering sexual-abuse-specific treatment need to collaborate with the providers of such services to ensure that sexual-abuse-specific services are optimized for the adolescent being treated.
- 12.7 When providing sexual-abuse-specific treatment, practitioners work closely with family members, educators, and other community support persons who can facilitate successful treatment outcomes because of their abilities to attend to these adolescents' specific needs.

H. SUPPORTING REHABILITATION

Overview

As stated earlier in this document, public health and public safety are both jeopardized by ineffective or misguided public policy and criminal justice efforts. This is especially true for adolescents in jurisdictions where policies designed for adults have been applied to juveniles.

The putative aim of subjecting adolescents to adult-based sex crime laws and policies is to reduce the risk posed by these youth to their communities. However, research findings indicate that rehabilitative efforts are effective with most adolescents and that therapeutic interventions, rather than social control strategies, are not only more promising and more successful, but more cost-effective as well. In general, what is good for public health and public safety is often the very same set of conditions that promote healthy adolescent development.

- 13.0 Practitioners understand and recognize that effective public policy and practice for adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior involves a strong rehabilitative focus.
- 13.1 Practitioners appreciate that support of a rehabilitative approach is consistent with juvenile justice philosophies in most countries and recognize adolescence as a time of hope and opportunity for positive outcomes.

13.2 Practitioners recognize that, while at times legal system sanctions may be warranted, such sanctions should not be applied in isolation and without consideration of those interventions needed to facilitate broader prosocial development. Practitioners recognize the possible long-term negative consequences if sanctions are applied in isolation.

I. APPENDIX: SPECIAL POPULATIONS

Adolescent Females

While there is general agreement that females engage in sexually assaultive and abusive behavior far less frequently than males, reported crime statistics have indicated a consistent rise in the number of sexual offenses committed by females since the late 1990s. Despite this rise, there also is the belief that sexually abusive behavior perpetrated by females is under-reported.

Research that has examined issues related to females who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior has been very limited and has been hampered by small sample sizes. The research that has been done on females who commit sexual offenses has largely focused on adult females.

The limited knowledge base that does exist would appear to indicate that, like adolescent males who engage in sexually abusive behavior, adolescent females who engage in sexually abusive behavior are a heterogeneous group. However, research has suggested that, as a group, adolescent females who engage in sexually abusive behavior may differ from male counterparts in some key characteristics:

- A higher percentage of females who engage in sexually abusive behavior have a history of sexual victimization.
- Females who have been sexually victimized generally have been victimized earlier than males and are more likely to have had more than one perpetrator.
- A higher degree of family dysfunction has been reported in the homes of adolescent females who have sexually abused when compared to males, including physical and emotional abuse and parents (especially mothers) with serious mental health problems.

- Females who engage in sexually abusive behaviors evidence a higher incidence of co-morbid mental health problems than males. In particular, females show a higher incidence of internalizing mental disorders such as PTSD and depression.
- Adolescent females have higher rates of suicidal behavior, suicidal ideation, and other self-harming behavior (e.g., cutting) than adolescent males.
- Adolescent females may have higher rates of co-offending or group offending behavior than adolescent males.
- Adolescent females are more likely than males to engage in sexually abusive behavior toward young children in the family or children with whom they are familiar.
- Adolescent females are more likely than males to target both genders and are more likely to commit offenses within the context of child care roles.

Assessment and treatment approaches for adolescent females largely have been modeled on the approaches developed for males. While research suggests there are similarities in the treatment needs for both genders, treatment programs for adolescent females that are not informed by the different dynamics and trajectories of female development are likely missing important elements that support healing, growth, and personal efficacy. There presently are no empirically supported risk assessment instruments designed specifically for adolescent females who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior. The use of risk assessment instruments that were developed based on risk factors found in male populations may misinform assessments and therefore should be used cautiously or not at all. Practitioners assessing adolescent females should consider using information and assessment measures that examine broader personality and mental health issues, research on resiliency and protective factors, and research on risk factors associated with adolescent female delinquent behavior, as well as the limited research available regarding risk-relevant factors for females who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior.

Research on adolescent delinquent behavior identifies a number of factors that can inform risk assessment for female adolescents:

- Childhood onset of physical and relational aggression and oppositional behavior to adult authority for females tends to lead to an antisocial trajectory that follows into adulthood.
- Early onset of menarche (before the age of 11) appears to be positively correlated with the development of adolescent onset behavioral disorders.
- The co-morbidity of internalizing disorders with externalizing behavioral difficulties presents as a greater risk for developing conduct disorder than externalizing behaviors alone.
- Depending on the nature of the relationship, the development of a long-term, intimate relationship may actually present as a risk factor for females rather than having the result of providing greater stability, as is frequently evidenced by males.

There are few treatment programs that have been specifically designed for adolescent females who engage in sexually abusive behavior. However, research findings do support that certain treatment variables should be highlighted when providing services to this population:

- Issues of early victimization and trauma appear to be very prevalent for adolescent females who sexually offend, so particular attention to victimization issues using a trauma-focused treatment approach would seem warranted.
- Internalizing disorders such as depression, post-traumatic stress, and anxiety disorders appear to have a high level of co-morbidity in these adolescent females and should receive specific attention and treatment.
- Issues of suicidality and self-harming behavior need to be actively monitored and addressed.
- Practitioners treating adolescent females who have sexually offended need to be knowledgeable about gender-specific developmental processes and adapt treatment interventions and treatment modalities accordingly.

- A central component of treatment should focus on increasing self-efficacy by developing skills and addressing social and cognitive assumptions.
- Families need to be actively engaged in treatment as a means for addressing issues of safety, attachment, and relational stability.

Although many of the issues that need to be addressed when working with adolescent females who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior are similar to those that are addressed with males (e.g., developing healthy and prosocial relationships, healthy sexuality, effective social and coping skills, and emotional regulation), developmental research suggests that the dynamics and pathways involved in issues like safety, attachment, peer relationships, healthy sexuality, family relationships, accepting responsibility, self-efficacy, and competence are different for females than for males. Even within this framework, different cultural roles and attitudes regarding women will be important aspects in understanding both the etiology and treatment needs of this population.

Adolescents with Intellectual Disabilities

Adolescents with intellectual disabilities or Intellectual Developmental Disorder are identified as individuals who experience deficits in both intellectual functioning and day-to-day adaptive functioning. Difficulties in intellectual functioning frequently are recognized as problems with academic learning, but also reflect problems with reasoning, abstract thinking, problem solving, and judgment. Adaptive functioning deficits indicate a failure to meet developmental standards for independent functioning and personal responsibility in multiple settings including home, school, and the community. These deficits can include problems in communication, social participation, and independent living. It is important that practitioners and the systems they work within recognize the essential role of adaptive functioning skills in determining the needs of the adolescents they treat and do not solely use IQ scores to determine the presence of intellectual disabilities or the availability of necessary resources and supports for this population.

Many of the adolescents identified as having intellectual disabilities actually may be presenting with a range of developmental disabilities or specific learning problems (e.g., Autism Spectrum Disorder, neurobehavioral disorders associated with prenatal alcohol exposure, or communication disorders). Each of these developmental disabilities can manifest through a variety of behavioral and cognitive difficulties, and care should be taken when determining appropriate and effective assessment and treatment interventions based on the particular needs of the individual.

It is unclear what percentage of adolescents engaging in sexually abusive or problematic behavior meet the criteria for intellectual disabilities. The prevalence of intellectual disabilities has been reported as being approximately 2% in the general population, and approximately 15% among children ages 3 – 17. It is clear, however, that adolescents with intellectual disabilities and other types of specific developmental or learning problems are over-represented in the juvenile corrections system, with nearly 10% meeting the criteria for intellectual disabilities and almost 40% experiencing specific learning problems.

One factor to consider is research indicating that children with intellectual and developmental disabilities are at a significantly greater risk for experiencing maltreatment and sexual abuse than individuals without disabilities. Research has shown that early histories of abuse and neglect, exposure to violence, and other adverse childhood events can lead to adolescents engaging in a range of problematic behaviors that may include sexually abusive behavior. Many adolescents who are evaluated and treated for sexually abusive behavior may present with histories of maltreatment and trauma.

There is mounting evidence that the early experiences of trauma, neglect, and attachment disruptions may have a significant neurodevelopmental impact on children and adolescents, with earlier and more pervasive trauma experiences creating broader functional difficulties. Possible neurodevelopmental impacts, learning problems, and developmental disabilities are important factors to consider in the behavioral dynamics and responsivity to treatment with all adolescent clients, not just those with intellectual disabilities.

Practitioners providing assessment and treatment services to adolescents with developmental delays should recognize the limitations of assessment tools and treatment approaches that were not developed or normed for this population. Practitioners providing services to this population also should:

- recognize the need to adapt the content of assessment and treatment materials to the cognitive level and language-based abilities of their clients:
- regularly incorporate Adaptive Behavior Assessments and Functional Behavior Analysis into their assessment protocols and treatment interventions:
- recognize the need for multi-modal treatment interventions that rely less on language-loaded treatment approaches and incorporate more visual, experiential, and kinesthetic learning on a consistent basis;
- appreciate that possible difficulties and deficits in processing speed and working memory may necessitate the frequent repetition of psycho-educational treatment content and the regular practice of newly acquired skills before they can be integrated and used effectively; and
- recognize the importance of educating families and other care providers about the developmental needs and challenges these adolescents present.

Since developmental delays and intellectual deficits can be quite varied, practitioners need to provide individualized approaches to assessment and treatment for developmentally delayed clients. In addition to the concerns more typically addressed in the assessment and treatment of youth with problematic sexual behavior, specific attention may be needed for certain key areas, such as:

- the extent of the adolescent's knowledge regarding general social rules and conventions related to sexual behavior;
- the adolescent's ability to distinguish between acceptable and unacceptable sexual partners;
- the extent and source of the adolescent's sexual knowledge;
- the adolescent's understanding of the potential consequences for sexually abusive behavior for self and victims;
- the opportunities the adolescent has for expressing his/her sexuality in a non-problematic manner; and
- the support or limitations offered to the adolescent from his/her family or system care providers for the development of sexual knowledge and the expression of healthy sexual behavior.

More comprehensive guidance and resources regarding the assessment and treatment of adolescents with intellectual and developmental disabilities can be found in the ATSA Assessment and Treatment of Adolescents with Intellectual Disabilities Who Exhibit Sexual Problems or Offending Behavior 2015.

Adolescents with Co-Occurring Mental Health Problems

Studies with populations of nonsexual offending adolescents have found a high incidence of mental health diagnoses and a prevalence of co-occurring disorders (i.e., more than one mental health diagnosis) in the general delinquent population. Studies generally have identified a higher incidence of externalizing disorders (e.g., Conduct Disorder, Oppositional Defiant Disorder) than internalizing disorders in the general delinquent population, although some studies have found a high level of both externalizing and internalizing diagnoses among adolescents who were incarcerated.

Research with juvenile offenders also has cited a significant level of ADHD and substance abuse disorders in these adolescents. Research provides strong support in regard to generally delinquent adolescents that specific mental disorders and their co-morbidity increase the risk of aggression secondary to emotional and self-regulatory symptoms. When psychiatric disorders are addressed as part of an overall treatment intervention, outcomes for these adolescents appear to improve.

Studies have included examinations of the mental health diagnoses of adolescents who sexually abused as a subgroup of the general delinquent population, and have explored differences in subgroups of sexually abusive adolescents. A recent large meta-analysis found the following prevalence rates among adolescents who have sexually offended:

- 69% at least one mental disorder,
- 51% Conduct Disorder,
- 44% at least two mental disorders,
- 30% at least one Substance Use Disorder,
- 18% Anxiety Disorder (PTSD = 8%),
- 14% ADHD, and
- 9% Affective Disorder.

Previous research has found differences in subgroups of adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior. Externalizing problems were more common in offenders with same age and older victims, while adolescents with child victims were more likely to manifest internalizing problems. Studies have not found a direct connection between mental health diagnoses and sexual recidivism for adolescents who engage in sexually abusive behavior.

Some adolescents present with serious emotional disturbance such as schizophrenic and serious bipolar disorders. This results in additional considerations with a priority on psychiatric stabilization and ongoing monitoring of stability. Serious emotional disturbances impact the adolescent's overall functioning as well as approaches and timing of interventions.

With this research in mind, professionals working with adolescents who engage in sexually abusive behavior should:

- Assess for the possibility of co-occurring disorders and provide appropriate treatment interventions as warranted.
- Understand that psychiatric disorders may be present throughout childhood or may develop during adolescence, reflecting the need to remain attentive to the assessment of emerging symptoms.
- Appreciate that the discovery or disclosure of sexually abusive or problematic behavior can be a significant source of stress and disruption for the adolescent and his/her family, thereby triggering serious mental health issues.
- Seek additional clinical support to address diagnostic and treatment issues that are outside the realm of the practitioner's professional experience, clinical expertise, or professional role.
- Develop an open and collaborative relationship with a child or adolescent psychiatrist or psychiatric nurse practitioner who would cotreat clients when psychopharmacological intervention is warranted.
- Consider the presence of a psychiatric diagnosis as an important "responsivity" factor when determining the sequencing of treatment interventions, the level of treatment resources necessary, the most effective types of treatment modalities, and the level of structure and supervision a client may require for the purpose of safety and successful treatment outcomes.

J: APPENDIX: PUBLIC POLICY

History of Public Policy Development

Modern, more restrictive, sex crime laws and policies have been developed and adopted with increasing frequency since the 1980s, most readily in the United States, but also in Canada, Australia, and the United Kingdom. In the early 1990s, public fear swelled during a sharp increase in criminal behavior in the United States. During this time, researchers predicted that society was developing juvenile super-predators. As a result, policies were enacted that treated adolescents like adult offenders and the number of juvenile correctional treatment facilities grew significantly. There also was increased public awareness and concern with what the public viewed as a chronic prevalence of sexual aggression and sexual victimization being uncovered as laws were enacted that required reporting any suspected child victimization.

Many of the policies developed during this time, which were aimed at adolescents who sexually abuse, failed to include any effective policy characteristics. Rather, policies originally intended to address adult sexual offending often broadly targeted youth without consideration of their developmental status. These same policies failed to substantively include adolescents' parents/caregivers, and failed to meet any of the RNR principles. Some of these policies continue to be perpetuated in the presence of empirically rigorous research attesting to policy failure and/or in light of strong theoretical arguments that the policy impedes rather than promotes youth prosocial development.

No one is served by poor policy – not the people victimized by sexual abuse, not the adolescents who have sexually abused, and not community members whose safety remains unchanged at best. Moreover, ineffective policies waste limited resources that could be directed to better interventions.

Supporting Effective Policies

ATSA works toward amending or eliminating harmful policies as new research and data emerge on effective interventions. ATSA practitioners are encouraged to inform policy makers about strategies for aligning existing or proposed policies with empirical research support, and to advocate for an end to ineffective policies, especially where the potential for harm exists.

At a minimum, ATSA promotes these four fundamental aspects of effective policy:

- Effective policies are purposefully designed with the twin aims of (1) promoting the prosocial development of youth and (2) effectively mitigating the risk posed by youth to their communities. Related to these twin aims, effective policies are developed by first considering all relevant information including scientific findings and developing testable aims and outcomes that are subsequently evaluated to ensure those aims are accomplished.
- Effective policies for adolescents are specifically designed for this age group versus adults. Relatedly, these policies are consistent with the aims of juvenile justice, support rehabilitation not punishment, and recognize that adolescents are developmentally immature relative to adults. Likewise, such policies recognize that, to a greater degree than is true for adults, adolescent behavior is influenced by external factors, especially family, peer, and school influences, in addition to internal factors such as impulsivity. Finally, effective policies recognize that most youth will age out of delinquent behaviors as they mature and develop into adults.

- Effective policies acknowledge the importance of parents and other
 caregivers to the successful development of youth and stipulate that
 caregivers should be substantively involved in interventions addressing adolescent sexually abusive behaviors and other behavioral and
 mental health problems, unless contraindicated.
- Effective policies are consistent with the principles of risk-need-responsivity (RNR) by:
 - focusing primarily on adolescents with the greatest risk and fewest protective factors;
 - identifying and addressing intervention needs pertaining to valid recidivism risk factors; and
 - being responsive to youths' abilities, capacities, and learning styles.

Supporting Research-Based Policies

From a developmental standpoint, the commission of a violent or sexual offense by an adolescent often is treated by mental health and social service systems as a marker of developmental or mental health problems indicating a need for intervention. Penal policies that extend adult laws to youth treat such offenses as a marker of increased culpability and disregard developmental considerations or rehabilitative needs. By subjecting youth to adult-like procedures, penalties, and social control policies, society is in effect saying these youth are more adult-like than their non-offending peers or adolescents who commit other types of crimes. By comparison, no policies extend adult legal privileges such as voting and driving down to underage youth regardless of their exemplary behavior, presumably due to recognition of the fact that even smart, well-behaved adolescents are not the same as adults.

The body of evidence fails to support any community safety effect of adult-based juvenile sex crime policies. With respect to registration and notification, neither policy deters first-time juvenile sex offenses or juvenile sexual, violent, or nonviolent recidivism. Instead, these policies are associated with changes in juvenile case processing decisions such that more juvenile sex offense cases are dismissed, diverted, or pled to non-sex-offense charges. In fact, on average, registered youth have low sexual offense recidivism rates indistinguishable from nonregistered youth. Registration and notification also appear to increase the risk of adolescents sustaining new nonviolent charges but not new nonviolent convictions, suggesting an unfair surveillance effect on registered but not nonregistered youth. In addition, state and federal systems designed to distinguish (or tier) adolescents into higher and lower risk categories fail to do so accurately. Even when these classification systems are empirically based - which is rarely, if ever the case - given the rapid changes associated with adolescent development, these classification systems are likely to reflect short-term risk at best.

Existing research, while scant, on civil commitment policies has found that civil commitment procedures fail to accurately identify adolescents at high risk of recidivism. There is an even greater dearth of published studies examining residence restrictions as applied to adolescents. However, there is near-unanimity across numerous adult-focused studies that registration laws fail to support community protection and prevention goals.

There is no reason to suspect that adolescents would be less adversely affected than adults by residence restrictions and, indeed, adolescents have fewer resources and less control over those resources with which to address the problems posed by residence restrictions. It seems particularly contrary to healthy and prosocial development to apply residence restrictions to adolescents – to require that adolescents reside further away from public schools and other places where their peers congregate. Rather, they ought to be encouraged to attend schools and congregate with prosocial peers if they are ever to reach their full potential.

In summary, while juvenile sex crime policies might have been crafted to mitigate risk, the available evidence fails to support this aim. Moreover, these policies were neither originally developed nor reasonably adapted specifically for adolescents. Such policies fail to promote youth prosocial behavior, fail to consider the importance of parents/caregivers, and are inconsistent with the principles of RNR. Therefore, it is ATSA's position that youth should not be subjected to these policies. Specifically, civil commitment, sex offender registration, public notification, and the collateral consequences triggered by these policies (e.g., residence, education, and employment restrictions) should not apply to youth adjudicated delinquent as minors. Moreover, ATSA encourages the revision of policies that require extensive periods of incarceration or the transfer of underage youth to adult court, particularly policies that are implemented without discretion (e.g., automatic transfers or waivers based on charge or a combination of charges and the adolescent's age) except in all but the most extreme cases.

Rather, policies would be better crafted if the basic assumption was that adolescents should not be treated like adults. Then, in the rare cases when it appears that an adolescent cannot be safely maintained within juvenile-specific systems (e.g., juvenile justice, child welfare, public education), decisions could carefully weigh the risks to the community versus the risk to the individual adolescent who faces adult sanctions. Such rare cases might involve youth whose abusive behavior persists despite the availability and provision of evidence-informed treatment.

Beyond Juvenile Justice: Decisions Related to Supervision, Placement, Education, and Disclosure

Professionals who provide services to adolescents who have engaged in sexually abusive behavior make or influence decisions regarding a host of considerations in the lives of these youth. Quite often, such decisions are made in the absence of formal policy, although local standards of practice may have evolved around a set of unwritten rules. Moreover, written and unwritten policies that guide supervision, placement, education, and disclosure decisions often seem to be constructed around broad and faulty assumptions and generalizations such as "all adolescents who sexually abuse are likely to do it again," or "perpetrators should never live in a home with their victims."

Good practice regarding adolescent non-judicial decision making should be premised on an individual adolescent's risk, needs, and responsivity, and conducted on a case-by-case basis. Indeed, good practice should involve the same four broad considerations as effective judicial policy:

(1) minimizing risk while maximizing a youth's potential for prosocial development; (2) consideration of the developmental status of the youth and recognition of the speed with which such status can change, usually for the better, as adolescents age into adulthood; (3) recognizing the inherent importance of an adolescent's parents/caregivers in guiding youth behavior; and (4) adhering to principles of risk, needs, and responsivity. In addition to these broader guiding principles, several general considerations are relevant for decision making regarding supervision, placement, education, and peer activities. These include:

Giving more weight to recent behavior than past behavior. When
considering placement, recent offense-free behavior in the community could help support remaining in the community. The same
logic applies for remaining in school. When considering a return to
school, recent examples of appropriate behavior during structured
and supervised activities could weigh in favor of re-enrollment.

- Considering distress caused to other youth. A person might experience distress if exposed in school or at home to the adolescent who sexually abused him/her. In these situations, the safety and well-being of the victim is the priority. A team approach helps ensure that all aspects of the situation are taken into consideration and allows for a plan to be developed that addresses concerns and needs.
- Considering caregivers' ability to ensure the safety of all youth in their care. Simply assuming that parents are unable to monitor an adolescent who has sexually abused is insufficient. Rather, concern about parental capacity to effectively supervise and support the adolescent's treatment should trigger the provision of services designed to improve that capacity so as to increase the likelihood a youth can return to his/her family.
- Considering out-of-home or out-of-community placement. The individual youth's risk and needs inform the decision about whether an out-of-home or out-of-community placement is needed. In cases in which the abuse occurred in the home, safety as well as the impact on the victim's well-being are key considerations. The abusive adolescent's risk and needs may warrant out-of-home or out-of-community placement. In addition, at times serious psychiatric issues (e.g., suicidal or psychotic symptoms) support hospitalization or residential placement for stabilization. When a youth is removed from the home and/or community, it is important that discharge planning from the placement is initiated at the time of admission. Early planning supports successful re-integration into the community and/or home. Supervision, activities, and intensity of continued interventions are based on the youth's progress and functioning at the time of discharge.

As with all clinical populations, and as emphasized throughout this document, adolescents who sexually abuse are diverse, and practitioners' responses should be calibrated to each youth's individual strengths and needs, as well as the strengths and needs of their caregivers. ATSA advocates against blanket and one-size-fits-all policies that treat all youth adjudicated of a sexual offense in the same manner, whether these pertain to supervision (e.g., mandating intensive probation for all such youth), placement (e.g., mandating out-of-home or residential treatment for all such youth), education (e.g., automatic suspension or expulsion or refusing to re-enroll any youth with a sexual offense), and peer activities (e.g., broadly prohibiting appropriately supervised prosocial activities with peers or family).

There certainly are individual circumstances warranting intensive supervision, out-of-home placement, private tutoring, and/or limited access to certain peers or family members. Yet the low sex offense recidivism rate of adolescents adjudicated for sexual offenses indicates that most such adolescents can and should be placed in their own communities and ideally in their own homes. When considering decisions for individual youth, decision makers are encouraged to consider both the low overall risk of recidivism posed by the adolescent who caused sexual harm coupled with the fact that risk is modifiable with evidence-based interventions.

Moreover, as noted in earlier sections of this document, even adolescents with many risk factors can benefit from remaining within their communities to access evidence-based treatment, provided that sufficient supervision is in place to keep them and others safe. When restrictions are placed on adolescents' opportunities regarding where they may live, attend school, and socialize, such decisions should be accompanied by the provision of free or affordable evidence-based treatment designed to mitigate risk, improve prosocial behavior, improve caregiver capacity, and return the adolescent to settings typical of normatively developing youth as quickly as possible.

Decisions Related to Disclosure of Youths' Status

Since the advent of specialized treatment for adolescents who sexually abuse, determining who, if anyone, needs to be informed about an adolescent's status as a sex offender has been an area of consideration and discussion. Widespread disclosure of an adolescent's status is sanctioned and even required by some states' notification policies despite a body of evidence that fails to support these policies.

Likewise, research points to the negative effects of labeling youth. Thus, in general, information from juvenile justice, treatment, and other agency records, including the records of adolescents who have sexually offended, should be treated confidentially. However, there are some situations in which disclosing accurate information, with an appropriate release of information, about a youth's prior offense history and related recommendations is warranted. For example, foster care parents require comprehensive knowledge regarding each youth's individual strengths and needs to be best able to provide safety and support.

When developing recommendations regarding disclosure, decision makers should consider:

- the reason disclosure is being considered,
- the person to whom disclosure is being considered,
- the harm that disclosure is thought to avert,
- the harm that disclosure might cause, and
- what additional information to include to increase the usefulness and decrease the potential harm when disclosure does occur.

With these considerations in mind, ATSA further emphasizes that information is shared only on a need-to-know basis.

Policy Conclusions

ATSA's mission is the prevention of sexual abuse through the promotion of effective practice and policy. At a minimum, effective policies:

- Promote interventions that are purposefully designed for adolescents to mitigate risk and promote social development,
- Substantively involve parents and other caregivers, and
- Are premised on RNR principles.

Many policies – both written and unwritten – that guide how practitioners intervene with youth who have sexually abused fail to adhere to fundamental standards. In isolation, these policies are largely ineffective and potentially harmful. As stated earlier, no one is served by poor policy. ATSA practitioners should seek to replace such policies with those that effectively meet the needs of youth, the people who were victimized, and our communities.

ATSA recognizes the mutual and exponential benefits of joining forces with a growing list of allies and partners to advance comprehensive efforts to prevent sexual abuse.

If you would like to partner with ATSA, please contact us at atsa@atsa.com.

@ 2017 Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers Printed and produced in the USA